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Friday, October 22, 2010

--- On commencing at 9:11 a.m.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Good morning, everyone.  I believe we are continuing with panel 7, corporate functions and cost allocation.  I know, Mr. Millar, you haven't completed your cross-examination, so I know you are first up.

Are there any preliminary matters?  No?  Okay.  Mr. Millar, whenever you are ready.
ONTARIO POWER GENERATION - PANEL 7, RESUMED

Lorraine Irvine, Sworn Previously


Jong Kim, Sworn Previously


Tom Staines, Sworn Previously

Continued Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar:


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, thank you, Madam Chair.  Good morning, panel.  You will recall, as we finished, we were going through the exercise of looking through that Staff calculation of a $106 million amount.

And you told me for a variety of reasons that we had that all wrong and the 106 million couldn't be relied on, and the chief reason for that related to the fact that one of the numbers was FTEs and the other was head count and that those weren't necessarily -- in fact, they weren't comparable.  Do you recall that?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes, I do.

MR. MILLAR:  And that brought me and Staff back to a discussion we had with a previous panel on a very similar topic, and I guess I have some questions that I have to put through you, because there may be an inconsistency that has come to light.

You may not have prepared all of the answers that I am going to bring you to, but the other panel is gone, and we asked them these questions and we seem to have gotten a different answer from two different panels.

So let me walk you there what I am talking about.  We asked a question through the technical conference.  It is technical conference question 41 that is part of the record.  I did provide some stand-alone copies.  Do you have it?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes, I do.

MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, does the Panel have copies?  You would have some in your materials, but we have spare copies here, if that would assist.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  That would be helpful.

MR. MILLAR:  I will provide just a little bit of context, first of all, because I assume -- or maybe I shouldn't assume.

Did you have any role in preparing the response to this interrogatory?

MS. IRVINE:  No, I did not.

MR. MILLAR:  So you will be new to this, so I will provide a little bit of background.

The pages are not numbered, unfortunately, but the second page of the document itself, these are the actual questions as posed by Board Staff and you will see (c) at line 25.

MS. IRVINE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And then if you -- just to let you know what we were asking about, you will see under (c)(i), we quote something from the application where it says:
"2012 regular staff levels are forecast below 2008 levels by 689 staff, while non-regular 17 staff FTEs ('full time equivalents') are reduced by 559'."


Then we asked, if you skip down a line or two:
"However, Board staff questions whether these figures represent staff or FTE reductions because it subtracts 2008 Headcount from 2012 FTEs.  Subtracting Headcounts from FTEs is inappropriate as Headcount is always much higher than FTEs."


It turns out the company doesn't agree with that position, but, regardless, that is the question.  Then we ask:
"Is OPG able to convert the Headcounts for 2008 and 2009 to FTEs to provide an appropriate comparison?"


And then if we flip to the answer two pages ahead of that, you will see there is a response to (c).  This one is about line 25.  Do you see that?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes, I do.

MR. MILLAR:  And then your response, the second paragraph:
"While it would be possible to calculate historic FTEs, it would be a labour-intensive effort requiring a 'reverse engineering' of FTEs from headcounts that would involve a number of assumptions (for example, staff working 35 versus 40 hour weeks) that would impact the comparability of historical and future FTE numbers.  For the above-noted reasons, OPG believes that the comparison OPG has provided in its pre-filed evidence is the appropriate comparison."


So in many ways, Staff actually had some of the same concerns you highlighted yesterday about it is difficult to compare FTEs versus head count.  But we asked for FTE numbers from the company and we were told essentially that you didn't have them.  It was possible to produce them; however, it was very labour-intensive.

Now, if we look to page 18 of the Staff booklet that we had presented yesterday, this is table 1 from the previous proceeding, table 1, F2, tab 1, schedule 1 from EB-2007-0905.  At the bottom, line 16 -- I will just wait.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Sorry, go ahead.

MR. MILLAR:  At the very bottom line, it says, "Total Staff FTEs", and then you have actuals for 2005 through 2007, and then you have plan numbers for 2008-2009.

Now, Staff had seen this before, but given your response to the technical conference question, we assumed that when you said FTEs here, you actually meant head count.

But we have looked a little bit more carefully and you will see the 2007 actual numbers for total FTEs.  I see 8,278.8.

MS. IRVINE:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. MILLAR:  Those are the 2007 actuals as presented in your last case.  If you flip the page to page 19 of the Staff booklet, this is from the current application.  It is table 13 to F2, tab 2, schedule 1.  If you look at 2007 actual and it says head count, and the number is different.  It says 8,014.

So I am not sure exactly what to make of that, and I am not sure if you are the right person to ask, but the question remains.  From looking at these charts and the responses provided, it looks like the company does have FTE numbers for periods 2007 and 2008 and 2009.

So are you able to help us with that?  Does the company have the FTE numbers or does it not?

MS. IRVINE:  Well, I note that on the chart on page 19 of the Board's submission - that would be Exhibit F2, tab 2, schedule 1, table 13 - that actually we identify that in the previous years we were using head count and in the advance years we're using FTEs.

There is no such clarification on the previous page, 18, which is the exhibit from the 2007 case, F2, tab 1, schedule 1, table 1.

So I am not sure when they say "actual versus plan", the top heading of the cost item or the line number,

that -- I could not assume that 2007 was head count rather than FTEs.  I don't know what that number is.

MR. MILLAR:  And I accept you didn't actually prepare this, so I have kind of put you on the spot.

MS. IRVINE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  But we asked these exact questions, both through the technical conference and then followed up on them in the hearing, and I guess it is not -- it's not clear to me that we have the right answer yet.

So what I would suggest -- I suspect you are not the person to answer this, so I am going to suggest an undertaking, and that would be if the company first can tell us if they have the FTE numbers for periods prior to 2010, and, if so, if we could please have them?

MR. SMITH:  Yes.  That's fine, that's fine.

MR. MILLAR:  That is J9.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. J9.1:  TO PROVIDE FTE NUMBERS FOR PERIODS PRIOR TO 2010 IF AVAILABLE.

MR. MILLAR:  And I guess I was going to take you back to some questions about the calculation.  Given that it is still not quite certain if we have an apples-to-apples comparison, that may be -- the undertaking response may inform that calculation, so I think we have presented it as it is.  We will see if our numbers are the correct numbers or not.

Okay, I just have two short areas remaining.  Can I ask you to turn to page 25 of the Staff booklet?

MR. SMITH:  Just Members of the Panel, with your leave, I do note that we do have an outstanding undertaking which I believe will be filed relatively promptly, perhaps not today but early next week, which did ask for a head-count-to-head-count comparison.  I believe it is J4.4.


So that work is under way already, Mr. Millar, which may --


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, we did note that, and we are not asking you to run FTE -- we didn't ask that, because we understood you didn't have the FTE numbers and it was a labour-intensive process.

From what we're looking at now, we are not sure if that is -- if that still holds.  So to the extent you have calculated FTE numbers, or you have them, we would like to see them.  According to this chart, it appears that you do, but we will wait on that response.

MR. SMITH:  Understood.  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Page 25 of the Staff booklet.

MS. IRVINE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  That is an interrogatory response, Staff 74.  It is under exhibit -- pardon me, Issue number 6.8, if you are looking through the binders.

What we asked for here were -- asked you to provide the aggregate compensation costs from 2007 to 2012 and broken down under various topics -- or, pardon me, categories.  Do you see that?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes, I do.

MR. MILLAR:  If you look at the total, the increase has actually been relatively modest from 1.3 billion to 1.4 billion, essentially, something less than 4 percent over that time period.  Would you take that, subject to check?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes, I would.  I also would like to point out that there was a blue sheet issued with respect to this chart.

MR. MILLAR:  Oh, okay.

MS. IRVINE:  And that there is a couple of very small changes in the 2007 column for nuclear, and of course in the total.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I'm sorry I missed that.  I don't think that will be germane to my questions.

MS. IRVINE:  I don't think so.  It's not --


MR. MILLAR:  You can let me know if it is relevant, but thank you for that clarification.

Regardless, whatever the change, I am assuming that the increase is still under 4 percent over the -- the total increase would be under 4 percent for the time period?

MS. IRVINE:  It appears to be in that range, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  The only one that stood out here is if I look at regulated hydro, 42 million in 2007, up to 52 million in 2012, that is approximately, I think, about a 25 percent increase or 5 percent year-over-year.  And that is the only one that stood out as being a little bit higher than the others, so I am wondering if at least at a high level you could provide some explanation as to why regulated hydro appears to have inflated at a factor much greater than the other categories.

MS. IRVINE:  I'm sorry, in that I can't provide much detail on that.  I did prepare this chart, but it was prepared with input from each of the business units.

So I do not know the reason why hydro is -- regulated hydro has taken that difference.

MR. MILLAR:  I see.  So you compiled the numbers, but you weren't involved in it beyond that?

MS. IRVINE:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Now, I have - this is the correct -- this is the -- no, it's not.  Okay.

The panel that we have attached to this interrogatory is this panel, then?

MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  You don't have the details on that?

MS. IRVINE:  I don't have the underlying details, no.

MR. MILLAR:  I suppose if I wanted to get those details, it would have been panel 1, the regulated hydro panel?

MR. STAINES:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I will move on.  I have one final area --


MS. HARE:  Sorry, if I could just interject, I'm sorry, I don't think that is a good enough answer, just saying that you don't have the information.

MS. IRVINE:  I apologize to the panel, but literally I just do not know what is the driver behind the --


MS. HARE:  Can you find out for us?

MS. IRVINE:  If you would like me to take an undertaking.

MR. SMITH:  We can find out by way of undertaking.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Ms. Hare.  That will be Undertaking J9.2, and it is to provide an explanation for the increase in regulated hydro, as shown in Exhibit L, tab 1, schedule 74.
UNDERTAKING NO. J9.2:  to PROVIDE EXPLANATION FOR INCREASE IN REGULATED HYDRO, AS SHOWN IN EXHIBIT L, TAB 1, SCHEDULE 74.

MR. MILLAR:  Moving on to my final area, I have some questions about something that arose in the technical conference, this relating to an over-the-counter drug benefit for the Power Workers' Union.

And I believe, in fact, you, Ms. Irvine, were the person who gave some testimony on this issue.

If you look at page 26, Mr. Faye was asking you some questions, and you confirmed for him that the PWU has provision for over-the-counter drugs in its collective agreement; is that right?

MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And the Society no longer does; is that correct?

MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Is the PWU the only group that gets these benefits at OPG?

MS. IRVINE:  That is the truth.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MS. IRVINE:  The other thing I should point out, which I neglected to at the technical conference, is that over-the-counter drugs are covered for PWU staff provided they are prescribed by a physician.

So you would have to get a physician to write out a prescription for Tylenol or whatever, in order for it to be covered by the plan.

MR. MILLAR:  In fact, I was going to ask you a little bit about the benefits.  So that's interesting.  I confess I am a little confused by that.  I didn't know you could get prescriptions for over-the-counter drugs, but I guess you can.

MS. IRVINE:  Mm-hmm.  It is basically, you can't go in and just simply pick up what you want to pick up and have it paid through the benefits plan.  Your doctor has to actually provide, in writing, that you require this.

MR. MILLAR:  And Mr. Faye asked you, if you look at line 17 on page 26 - this is from the technical conference - he says:

"Just so I understand, these are things like analgesics, Anacin, that kind of stuff?"

MS. IRVINE:  Right.

MR. MILLAR:  Can you get a prescription for Anacin?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes, you can.

MR. MILLAR:  Oh, I did not know that.  So you do need a prescription, is what you are telling me?

MS. IRVINE:  You do.

MR. MILLAR:  Who is eligible for these benefits in the Power Workers' Union?  It would include pensioners or...

MS. IRVINE:  Yes, it would.

MR. MILLAR:  And family members?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes.  Dependents, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Anyone else?

MS. IRVINE:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  So I take it the number of people who are eligible for this is thousands?

MS. IRVINE:  Oh, easily.

MR. MILLAR:  Because there are, in fact, thousands of current PWU employees, and there would be --


MS. IRVINE:  There are about 7,500 PWU employees, and so it would be their spouses and dependent children.

MR. MILLAR:  And --


MS. IRVINE:  And the pensioners.

MR. MILLAR:  So over 10,000, certainly?

MS. IRVINE:  Certainly.

MR. MILLAR:  Is there a limit to how much money one can spend under this benefit?

MS. IRVINE:  No, there is not.

MR. MILLAR:  And I guess they require prescriptions so that is some level of review, but is there any other review aside from the fact that they have a prescription for this?

MS. IRVINE:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Now, we asked you to give an undertaking to provide us with the costs of that program.  And we got an answer, I think, that was slightly different -- I shouldn't say "we".  I believe it was Mr. Shepherd who actually asked for this.

The undertaking question was, and you can turn to page 27 to see this -- well, the undertaking as it shows in the transcript says:

"To provide costs to company of over-the-counter drugs."

And I think what people were looking for was the test year amounts that were budgeted, or if not the test years, then the most recent actuals for the PWU's use of this benefit.

And what you provided us with, at page 27, is you say:

"The annual savings to OPG from the removal of non-life-sustaining over-the-counter drug benefit for the Society was $556,000 in 2005."

Can you give us more recent actual numbers for the PWU?

MS. IRVINE:  No.  As I related during the technical conference, we don't break down the drug spending into over-the-counters versus prescription drugs.

However, Mr. Shepherd said:  Surely you must have costed that item in order to do bargaining in 2005, and I admitted that we had done that for the Society.  And so he asked me for the figure we had used during bargaining.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, you must have done similar calculations for the PWU, didn't you?

MS. IRVINE:  PWU bargaining doesn't come up until 2012.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, it has come up since 2005, hasn't it?

MS. IRVINE:  It has, but we didn't do the calculation at that point.

MR. MILLAR:  So there are prescription drug benefits and over-the-counter benefits?

MS. IRVINE:  Correct, and we have --


MR. MILLAR:  And they both need a prescription?

MS. IRVINE:  They both need a prescription, and I do have the costs for each represented group broken down by drugs, medical accessories, hearing aids, vision, those kinds of things, but within the drug category I do not have it broken down between over-the-counters and prescription drugs.

MR. MILLAR:  So you have the total drugs number for PWU?

MS. IRVINE:  I can get it, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Could we have an undertaking for that, please?

MS. IRVINE:  And for what year?

MR. MILLAR:  The most recent year you have actuals available.

MS. IRVINE:  That would be 2009.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  That would be fine.  J9.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. J9.3:  to PROVIDE BREAKDOWN OF DRUG BENEFITS between prescription and over-the-counter drugs FOR 2005 AND 2009.

MR. SMITH:  Yes.

MS. CHAPLIN:  If I could just follow on from that, Ms. Irvine, would the split -- if we have the figure for the Society, if the 556 is representative of the over-the-counter, if we also had the total -- which I am presuming you have -- would that same proportion be applicable to the PWU, likely, more or less?

MS. IRVINE:  It might.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Then let's get that, as well.

MS. IRVINE:  Okay.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  We will make that part of the same undertaking, and that would be, I guess, since 2005 was the reference for the Society, it is to provide the total drug costs for 2005.

MS. IRVINE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  A final -- sorry, you said there is prescription drugs and over-the-counter drugs, and they both require prescriptions.  What is the difference?

MS. IRVINE:  It is whether a drug is legally required to have a prescription to be dispensed.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.

A final question.  Are you able to identify any other commercial companies that provide this type of coverage to their employees?

MS. IRVINE:  No.  We haven't -- we do have benchmarking data on benefits, but I am not sure if it is specific enough to provide for over-the-counter, versus just simply drug coverage.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.  Thank you, Ms. Irvine.  Thank you, panel.  Those are my questions.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  Mr. Stephenson, I believe you are next.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Stephenson:


MR. STEPHENSON:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Good morning, panel.  My name is Richard Stephenson.  I am counsel for the Power Workers' Union.  I just want to follow up on a couple of items from my friend, Mr. Millar.

He asked -- there was a line of questions that you were asked about, the Towers Perrin comparative compensation cost data.  Do you recall that?

MS. IRVINE:  Correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And I had a sense that there was a misunderstanding about this, and I just want to see if I am right about that.

Am I correct that the Towers Perrin report was not something which was prepared -- it was not something that was commissioned by OPG from Towers Perrin.  This is a generic report that they prepare for interested purchasers, generally?

MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And so as a result of that, I take it it is, in a sense, off the shelf?  You can buy it, but anybody else that is prepared to pay for it on their terms can buy the same thing?

MS. IRVINE:  Actually, I don't think that is the case.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.

MS. IRVINE:  At the time, Towers Perrin would allow you to purchase if you participated.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay, fair enough.  So there was the list of participants and --


MS. IRVINE:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I see.  And so as a result of that, to the extent there is data which is relevant, directly relevant, comparing OPG to anybody else, that was an exercise that OPG undertook on its own, in effect, to try to get the best comparables it could?

MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  The second item I just wanted to follow up on was the issue about the difference between the 3 percent forecasted compensation increases and the 4 percent forecasted compensation increases.

And as I understood, the explanation was it was progression; is that correct?

MS. IRVINE:  That's correct, and promotion.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And promotion, correct.

And so the issue was -- the question that was raised was: Don't you have retirees leaving and being replaced by new entrants who are at, in effect, the bottom of the progression grid?  And the answer to that question, as I understood it, was yes?

MS. IRVINE:  To the extent that that takes place, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Am I right, though, that that is not a zero-sum game?

MS. IRVINE:  No.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Because I think you explained the progression grids, that, for the PWU, it was either a six or -- a six-year progression grid, was it?

MS. IRVINE:  Band 1 is six years and bands 2 and 3 are eight.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Eight years, okay.  And for the Society, it is even longer than that; correct?

MS. IRVINE:  Correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And so obviously for a new hire, it will take, in the PWU case, either six or eight years before they are at the top of the grid?

MS. IRVINE:  Correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Correct.  Am I right, then, that the 1 percent amount -- obviously the promotions is an entirely different question, but on the progression side, the reason why there is a net increase there is because there are more people that are still progressing on the grid than there are new entrants each year?

For every retiree that is leaving, there are a lot more people in the six- or eight-year band that are still progressing each year?

MS. IRVINE:  The answer to your second comment I think is correct.  I am still unsure about the previous one.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Well, I am assuming -- and this may be inaccurate, but if we assume for a moment that for each retiree there is a new entrant, and I appreciate that is not entirely accurate, but for the purposes of this example, let's assume it is.  So you are having a person who is at the top of the grid leave and a person at the bottom of the grid come in; correct?

MS. IRVINE:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. STEPHENSON:  But at the same time, you've got everybody that was at steps 1 through 6 or 1 through 8 ratcheting up one more step each year; correct?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes.  They're progressing through the system.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And there is a lot more people in that 1 through 6 or 1 through 8 group ratcheting up each year than there is new entrants in each year?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I wonder if I could just step in.  I'm sorry to do this, and I know that the panel is probably sick of hearing about leading questions and supporting cross, but my friend is trying to rehabilitate the witnesses' answers in cross-examination.  He is obviously using leading questions, and I am very concerned about that.

MS. CHAPLIN:  I didn't interpret it that way, Mr. Shepherd.  I thought he was trying to get the information about the difference between the 3 percent and the 4 percent.

So, Mr. Stephenson, why don't you just carry on for now?

MR. STEPHENSON:  Fair enough.  I want to talk to you for a moment about the compensation issues more generally.

And I want to -- and for the purposes of these questions assume two things for all of them.  Number one, I am focussing on the PWU compensation issue; and, number two, I am focussing on the nuclear issue, as distinct from the hydraulic issue.

You have indicated in your materials that, in the case of the PWU, you have a collective agreement that is in place from 2009 until April of 2012; correct?

MS. IRVINE:  Correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And so to the extent that the Board is assessing the prudence of your compensation costs in that area, it seems to me - and tell me if I am wrong about this - that the Board would be concerned about two things.

Number one, it would be concerned about your forecast of what is going to happen in the future, including what is going to happen in the balance of the test period beyond April of 2012; right?  We've got still got nine months of test period in 2012; right?

MS. IRVINE:  Correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  So that is relevant to the Board; is that fair?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes, I think so.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And the second sense that it may be relevant to the Board is, to the extent they're looking at your -- I think you said many times that your current collective agreement is a legal obligation that can't be changed until April of 2012; right?

MS. IRVINE:  Correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  But to the extent they're looking at your current costs for that part of the test period, what we're really doing is looking at the prudence of what you did back in 2009; fair?

MS. IRVINE:  Okay.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Because that is how the current obligation was created?

MS. IRVINE:  Correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And so let me just talk about what you did in 2009 for a moment.  And I take it that people under your direction would have been responsible for that bargaining process; is that fair?

MS. IRVINE:  No.  Actually, the bargaining process is the responsibility of the VP of labour relations, and myself and my staff would be inputs to the bargaining process.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And so to the extent you can answer this, fine, and to the extent you can't, that's fine, too.

Also, again, I am not interested in any information regarding your labour relations strategy, and so I would ask you to self censor to the extent that you feel that I am asking a question that would otherwise cause you to reveal that.  I am not asking for those questions -- those answers, rather.

Is it fair to say -- I want to focus on the range of achievable outcomes back in 2009.  Am I right that the collective agreement at that time was a result of a negotiation as opposed to anything else?  There was a negotiated deal made?

MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And is it fair for me to assume or fair for the Board to assume that, from OPG's perspective, they got the best possible deal they thought was available in the circumstances?

MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And I just wanted to explore with you what the alternatives, theoretically, were available at the time to a negotiated agreement to see what else -- what were the other options that were on the table, so to speak, at the time, the best alternatives to a negotiated agreement.  Okay?

MS. IRVINE:  Well, they would be the same alternatives as were available now, which is either you take a strike lockout or you would go to arbitration.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Let's deal with each of those two, in turn.

Let's deal with arbitration, firstly.  And can you assist me, have you done a binding arbitration for any of your bargaining units for the purposes of establishing a collective agreement?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes, I have.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And with which -– which unions would that involve?

MS. IRVINE:  Well, I have been involved in most of them, but I have actually led the Society negotiations in 2007.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And am I right that when you are talking about arbitrating a collective agreement, you are getting a binding decision from a third party as to what the terms of the new collective agreement are?  Is that correct?

MS. IRVINE:  Correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Each party makes submissions to them, and it is an adjudication?

MS. IRVINE:  Correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And the decision of the arbitrator, whenever it is made, is a binding, legal decision; correct?

MS. IRVINE:  Correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  It is every bit as binding as the decision of this Board is?  It's --


MS. IRVINE:  Correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And does OPG have a view -- I am now going to turn to the case of the PWU -- as to its preference -- as to the advisability or as to the favourability of a negotiated resolution versus an arbitrated resolution, in terms of the probability that it will have a favourable outcome to OPG?

MS. IRVINE:  That is an interesting question.  But I believe that --


MS. CHAPLIN:  Sorry, just a minute.

Mr. Stephenson, earlier when Mr. Shepherd interjected, I was prepared to continue to give you quite a bit of leeway in the interests of moving this process along.  I am not terribly interested in long, protracted arguments about the conduct of counsel, if we can possibly avoid it.

However, I do feel that you are now pursuing lines of questioning which are leading in nature, and I would ask that you -- it is fine to go after this type of information, but I need you to formulate your questions in a way that is not sort of introducing the evidence right on to the record.

If you could adapt your questioning?

MR. STEPHENSON:  I hear you.  My last question actually was does OPG have a view about that, which is -- I don't think leading in any respect.

MS. IRVINE:  I would think, on a generic basis, the view is always that a two-party settlement is better in the longer term, considering labour relations issues and employee relations issues, but in terms of the specific financials, that is difficult to say.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Would that depend on the particular circumstances of the --


MS. IRVINE:  Absolutely.

MR. STEPHENSON:  -- of that round of negotiations?

MS. IRVINE:  Correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And I provided to your counsel and others earlier a copy or copies of two recent interest arbitration decisions.

Have you had a chance to look at those?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes, I have.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And were you aware of these before I gave copies of these to you?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes, I was.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Do people either in your group or in the labour relations group monitor this sort of thing, what is going on in the industry?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes.  The labour relations group does.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And if I can get you to turn to, the first one is a case which involves the Electrical Safety Authority and the Society of Energy Professionals by an arbitrator by the name of Robert Herman.

Do you see that?

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Stephenson, I propose to give those exhibit numbers.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Sure.

MR. MILLAR:  Unless there was more lead-up.

MR. STEPHENSON:  No, no.  That's fair enough.

MR. MILLAR:  K9.1 will be the Electrical Safety Authority arbitration.
EXHIBIT NO. K9.1:  DECISION IN ELECTRICAL SAFETY AUTHORITY ARBITRATION.

MR. MILLAR:  And K9.2 will be the University of Toronto decision.
EXHIBIT NO. K9.2:  DECISION IN UNIVERSITY OF TORONTO/SOCIETY OF ENRGY PROFESSIONALS ARBITRATION.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And have you seen -- forget about these decisions in particular, but have you seen decisions of interest arbitrators before?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes, I have.

MR. STEPHENSON:  You do this in part of your job?

MS. IRVINE:  Correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Let me just take you to the ESA decision.  And if I can just take you to the first paragraph of the decision, and there is a description of who the ESA is.  Do you see that?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And you will see about halfway through that paragraph, it indicates that it, being the ESA:

"...is not an agency of the Crown.  Its employees are not Crown employees and it receives no funding from government.  Its revenues are derived from fees charged to users of its services, such as inspection services..."

Et cetera.  Can I ask you this question?  Is that analysis applicable also to OPG in the sense of funding agency, Crown employees?

MS. IRVINE:  No, I don't believe it is.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And in what respect is it not applicable?

MS. IRVINE:  Well, we are not an administrative authority.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I understand that, yes.

MS. IRVINE:  I would think that... I know that OPG has been described in this way, and it may not be technically accurate, but it is more likely to be viewed as an agency.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  What about the funding?  Do you know the answer to that?

MS. IRVINE:  No.  But as the government is our sole shareholder, they have a great interest in our business plans.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right, okay.  And then -- oh, by the way, this decision is from September 2010.  Is that -- do you know what the nexus between the timing of this decision is and the legislation regarding public sector wage restraint?

MS. IRVINE:  Bill 16 was passed, I believe, in May, but it was retroactive to March 25th, 2010.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  So we can figure it out.  This postdates that legislation.


MS. IRVINE:  Correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  If I can just take you, then, to paragraph 3 of the decision, and you will see there, there are the issues that the arbitrator is to consider, in terms of making his decision.

You see there is A, B, C, D.  A:

"Balanced assessment of internal relativities, general economic conditions and external relativities."

B:

"ESA to retain, motivate and recruit qualified staff."

C:

"Cost changes and their impact on total compensation."

D:

"Financial soundness of the ESA and ability to pay."

My question for you is do you know, are these the kinds of considerations that are typical for interest arbitrators to apply when they are performing their task?  Is this the kind of thing they do?  Or is it unique to ESA?

MS. IRVINE:  It is certainly not unique to ESA.  These are typical conditions under arbitrators' work.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Then the arbitrator carries on, and then I would like you to turn to page 17 -- or paragraph 17.  The arbitrator is then looking at electrical -- electricity sector comparators.  Do you see that?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And the reference there to:

"Negotiated settlements of the electricity sector comparators are often around three percent per year.  Two recent arbitrated settlements, Society received 2.6 percent, 2.7 and 2.85 for three years and 2.5 percent for a one-year agreement."

Et cetera.  Are you familiar with prevailing settlements in the electricity sector, in terms of current activity?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes.  And I believe that those were provided as part of an interrogatory -- if you allow me to refer back -- from the PWU, actually.  And that would be Exhibit L, tab 11, schedule 21, page 1 of 1.

And the response to that -- the question was:

"Has OPG compared wage escalations in other Ontario collective agreements...?"

Et cetera.  And our response in part (a) on line 31 is, in prep for collective bargaining, we do gather wage settlement information, and we also monitor settlements in the broader public sector as provided by the Ministry of Labour.

And a report was provided as attachment 1, which is a report produced by the government of Ontario, that talks about collective bargaining activities in December 2009.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And you will see -- the end point of this case, I take it, is that is there is a 3 percent increase for each of two years?

MS. IRVINE:  Correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And I appreciate that you are not engaged in bargaining with the PWU immediately, but you are actually involved and going to be going to collective bargaining with the Society soon; correct?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes, we have --


MR. STEPHENSON:  And what is the prospect that this decision is going to be bandied about by somebody in those negotiations as being reflective of the lay of the land as it stands today?

MS. IRVINE:  I would think that any recent settlement, whether two-party or arbitrated, would be part of the discussion.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And let me go back to 2009 for a moment and talk about the alternatives to a negotiated settlement.  Is it fair...

Let's assume that rather than there being a negotiated settlement, in fact you arbitrated with the PWU back in 2009.  What would your expectation be as to the kind of analysis that the arbitrator would undertake?  Is it similar to what we see here, or would it be radically different?

MS. IRVINE:  I think that is a highly speculative question.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I appreciate we're talking in hypotheticals.

MS. IRVINE:  I can't imagine it would be radically different.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  I am not asking you to predict what the outcome is, obviously, but I am talking more about the form of analysis.

MS. IRVINE:  It would be relatively similar.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And then if I can -- while we are on the subject of arbitration awards, can I ask you to turn up the second one, which is University of Toronto and University Of Toronto Faculty Association.  Do you see that?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And this is a decision of Mr. Teplitsky. Are you familiar who Mr. Teplitsky is?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Does he do work for the Power Workers' Union and OPG in terms of arbitrations?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes, he does.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  This decision, I take it, has a certain amount of notoriety in the community; is that fair?

MS. IRVINE:  I think that is fair on many Mr. Teplitsky decisions.

[Laughter]

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Are you saying that because it is not -- that Mr. Teplitsky is not well regarded, or why are you saying that?  Sorry.

MS. IRVINE:  Mr. Teplitsky is a colourful character in the field of arbitration.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And you have said you are familiar with it.  I take it -- are you familiar with the part of the decision where he deals with the issue of the applicability of the government's -- the legislation and the FAQ regarding the application of the principles of the Public Sector Wage Restraint Act to, in this case, University of Toronto and its faculty association?  Sorry, I am just asking if you are familiar with it, first, starting with -- and then I was going to ask you a detailed question about it.

MS. IRVINE:  Could you state your question again, please?

MR. STEPHENSON:  Yes.  Are you familiar with the aspect of the decision where he deals with that issue?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And you will see, if we go to page 4, the paragraph at the bottom of the page starting with "The University submitted".   Do you see that?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  It says:
"The University submitted in the context of the replication model of interest arbitration..."


Let me just -- stopping there for a moment, are you familiar with what he is talking about there in the context of this language, "the replication model of interest arbitration"?  Do you know what he is talking about there?

MS. IRVINE:  My understanding is that he is referring to almost pattern bargaining.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.
"The University says ... I should take this legislation and the accompanying policy statement into account in fashioning any award."


And then he goes on to say:
"My reasons for rejecting the University's submissions are these:..."

Over the page to page 5, he talks about his terms of reference are, and half way through the paragraph at the top of the page, he says:
"Included in Article 6 is this direction to the arbitrator: 'attempt to reflect the agreement the parties would have reached, if they had been able to agree'."


Do you see that?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes, I do.

MR. STEPHENSON:  That concept of the arbitrator imposing the agreement that the parties would have reached if they were able to agree, are you familiar with that concept?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And is that -- is that something that is understood within the realm of collective bargaining and interest arbitration?

MS. IRVINE:  I think what is understood in the realm of interest arbitration is that once you go to a third party, you are out of control in terms of what the outcome may be, but that the arbitrator will look at both cases and -- both briefs and make a decision.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And then if I can just take you over to the top of page 6, here's the bottom line.  He says half way through that paragraph at the top of the page:
"I agree with..."

The faculty association:

"...that recognizing the 'Act' as relevant would be a recognition of the ability to pay as a relevant criterion in recognizing the policy statement would compromise my independence.  I would appear a minion of the government.  Thus, in fashioning my award, I have not taken into account either the legislation or the policy."


I take it you were familiar with the fact that he made that finding?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes, I am.

MR. STEPHENSON:  It was in the Globe and Mail, aside from anywhere else?

MS. IRVINE:  Correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  My question for you is this - and I suspect this is a real-world issue for you, given the fact that you are going to be dealing with the Society shortly - this is -- although this decision obviously doesn't deal with OPG, I take it it is a finding that you are going to have to deal with, in the future, as negotiations arise?

MS. IRVINE:  It is one of the settlements that has been obtained prior to bargaining that we have to deal with, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And if I can just take you forward for a moment to page 9, you will see there there is a heading called, "Private and Public Sector Settlements".  Do you see that?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes, I do.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And it appears in the first paragraph under that heading he's looking at some Ministry of Labour statistics regarding other collective bargaining increases.  Do you see that?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes, I do.

MR. STEPHENSON:  This is leading, but, I mean, is this the same kind of stuff you were referring to in your undertaking response?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes, it was.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Okay.  Let me just move on for a moment.

In terms of an interest arbitration decision, whether it occurred in 2009 or occurred in 2011 vis-à-vis the Society or 2012 vis-à-vis the PWU, assuming that it occurred, would the prevailing wage escalations, both in the economy generally and vis-à-vis comparable employers be a relevant consideration, to your knowledge?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes, they would be taken into consideration, and I would think they would be proposed in one or both of the briefs prepared by the parties.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  What about the absolute level of compensation, in the sense that -- what relevance is that, in the sense that, you know, OPG pays $20 an hour and ATCO pays $17 an hour?  Is that a relevant consideration?

MS. IRVINE:  Well, that would be falling into the market relevance of the party.

The issue of total compensation, though, is certainly one that is germane, and under Bill 16 they have asked for a net-zero kind of collective agreement over the two-year period, which would -- they haven't said you need to have zero wage adjustment.  They have said you have to have net-zero within the collective agreement.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  But let's put it this way.  For the purposes of this application, that is not what you are forecasting; correct?

MS. IRVINE:  No.

MR. STEPHENSON:  No.  Okay.  Let me then deal with, again, going back to 2009, the other alternative to a negotiated settlement, I think you had indicated, was a work stoppage; right?

MS. IRVINE:  Correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And just to be clear, a work stoppage doesn't get you to an end point, obviously.  There has to be something that happens after the work stoppage that creates a new collective agreement.

And so let's assume for a moment you have a work stoppage.  Where do you go from there to get a collective agreement?

MS. IRVINE:  Well, depending on the position of the parties, you either get a two-party settlement at the end of the day, or you go to arbitration.

MR. STEPHENSON:  So actually -- this isn't a world where there are three outcomes.  There is actually only two outcomes, either negotiation or arbitration?

MS. IRVINE:  At the end of the day, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And let's just talk for a moment about what the implications of a work stoppage are to the OPG business, for a moment.

Has OPG assessed the issue of whether or not they are able to operate the nuclear business in the face of a PWU work stoppage?

MS. IRVINE:  I haven't personally dealt with that question for some years, but my understanding is that it would be extremely difficult to operate the nuclear plants in a strike or lockout of the PWU.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And I am going to deal with this in a moment in more detail, but let me deal with you for a moment about one specific issue, which is the -- there are folks that operate your nuclear plants called authorized nuclear operators.

You are familiar with those folks?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes, I am.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And are they represented by a union?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes, they are.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And who is that?

MS. IRVINE:  Power Workers' Union.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Does the CNSC have some interest in authorized nuclear operators, and in terms of the complement that is available to run a plant?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes, they do.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Are you able to run a plant if you do not have authorized nuclear operators there, to your knowledge, vis-à-vis the CNSC?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes.  It would be very difficult, if not impossible.  It would depend on the number of management folks who would have authorization.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Are there management folks that have authorization?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes, there are.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And let's assume for a moment that in the face -- that there is a PWU work stoppage, because this is an alternative; right?  To a negotiated settlement?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And let's assume for the purposes of this, that there is -- you cannot run the nuclear plants.  Okay?  I am going to ask you what the financial impact of that would be to OPG.  Okay?  I appreciate you are not going to be able to do this arithmetic here.  So let me -- I am going to ask you for an undertaking, but let me just -- and maybe, let me ask you straight up.

Has OPG, in fact, analyzed that question?  And if so, can you tell us what the outcome was?

MS. IRVINE:  I am not aware that they have done that kind of fiscal analysis.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  This is the question I am going to ask you to take by way of undertaking.  And this is just to give the Board some sense of what the impact might be.

We know what the revenue requirement you are seeking for nuclear is, for each of the two test years.  So by way of a simplifying assumption, I am going to ask you to divide that by 365 to tell us what the daily revenue requirement is for nuclear, as a proxy for what your revenue is each day from nuclear.  Okay?

And then I am going to ask you to subtract from that the savings that OPG would experience by virtue of not having to pay anybody in the PWU for every day it is shut.  Okay?

And I am assuming that more or less all of your other costs will remain the same.  And if I am wrong about that, by all means tell me, but that is my assumption.

Can you get somebody to do that math and tell us what the answer is?

And for what it is worth, Mr. Smith, I did a "back of the envelope" calculation out of the material that is already filed, and I've got a number of about $6 million a day.  But you've got better resources than I, and better math skills.

MR. SMITH:  Well, my concern is this.  If there is information in the record already from which my friend could make this proposition, then obviously that is satisfactory.

In terms of lost production, that will be the number of days times the, you know, the amount of production at the regulated rate.  There would be, of course, market conditions.  Who is to say how much base load generation is going to be called upon?

But I do have a concern about going into it in the degree of granularity my friend is concerned -- is asking for, because obviously, as has become apparent in the examination, we are going into a period of collective bargaining.  And while that, of course, is not necessarily determinative of this Board's determination of relevance, I am a little bit concerned about arming, if not my friend's clients, other people with information that could be used as leverage in the negotiations.

So I would much prefer to have the debate upon the basis of the information that is in the record than anything beyond that.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And for what it is worth, Mr. Smith, I am content that the answer be limited to information that is already available on the record.  I just don't want to get into a debate about the arithmetic.  I would much prefer to make the argument based on your arithmetic, than to get into an argument about the arithmetic.

MR. SMITH:  I think we can do it at a high level, based on the information that is in the record.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And just to be clear, Mr. Smith, the premise of my question was based upon a very -- a simplifying assumption that you are taking an average of your revenue every day, simply dividing the total by 365.  I appreciate that the daily numbers will vary significantly, and so I assumed there was no point in even engaging in that debate.

So I appreciate that the answer will be subject to all of those caveats and whatever other caveats you want to give me.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Smith, are you satisfied that the company understands the request?

MR. SMITH:  Yes.  I am satisfied that we understand the request.  I am observing the Panel, whether the Panel is satisfied with my position.

MS. CHAPLIN:  One moment, please.

[Board Panel confer]

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Stephenson, perhaps you could help the Panel with understanding the relevance, since your question was specifically with respect to the PWU, and so the options of work stoppages and arbitration, in my understanding, don't arise in the test period.  So...

MR. STEPHENSON:  Well, yes.  If I can assist you --


MS. CHAPLIN:  So how is it relevant?  That's the question.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Sure.  The place I started the cross-examination was the witness agreed with me that of course there would be a round of collective bargaining with the PWU in the test period.  It will occur in 2012, which will presumably establish rates, compensation in the test period.

So it does arise directly there.

It also arises, I think, indirectly, because this Board has, in the past, said:  We don't care, the fact that you are bound by law to pay these rates.  We think you were imprudent in the past when you established these rates that has led to disallowances at, for example, Hydro One vis-à-vis in its transmission business.

There is an argument whether that is the right thing to do or the wrong thing to do, but the Board has done that.  So it is at least theoretically available to the Board to do that here.

The purpose of my question is to say, when addressing the prudence of that action back in 2009 and the action which may occur in 2012, that prudence has to be
assessed -- the only way that prudence has to be assessed is against the other available outcomes.  And the witnesses agreed with me that this was an outcome which was theoretically available in 2009, but wasn't chosen, and, of course, vis-à-vis 2012 it is an outcome which is theoretically available then.  It is always available then.

And so I want to explore with the witness:  What is the implications of the path not taken in 2009, because that, in my submission - and this is just prefacing my argument - will be the measure of the prudence of the path taken?

[Board Panel confer]

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Well, since OPG has indicated its willingness to provide the requested information in the form as OPG has characterized it, we will go ahead and accept that undertaking or take that undertaking.

MR. MILLAR:  J9.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. J9.4:  TO PROVIDE THE FINANCIAL IMPACT ON OPG IF THERE IS A PWU WORK STOPPAGE

MR. STEPHENSON:  And just to close the loop on this issue, as you indicated earlier, after work a stoppage that, of course, doesn't get you the collective agreement.  You still need to come to either a negotiated settlement or an arbitrated settlement.  I think you said that earlier?

MS. IRVINE:  Correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Is there any guarantee that after a work stoppage, the outcome of either the negotiated settlement or the arbitrated settlement is going to be better for the company than one that was available before the work stoppage?

MS. IRVINE:  No, there is no guarantee.

MR. STEPHENSON:  It could be worse.  It could be better.

And in terms of OPG's considerations regarding the advisability of that path, going down the work stoppage path, leaving aside the question of the financial impact on OPG which we have just dealt with, are there any other considerations that OPG would have to take into account for itself, for its customers or otherwise, in terms of the implications of going down the work stoppage route?

MS. IRVINE:  I am speaking from the years in which I was involved with labour relations more directly, but I believe that there are many other considerations you would take before going down the strike-lockout path, including ability to serve customer contracts, impact on the overall economy.  Those kinds of things are in play.

MR. STEPHENSON:  One of the -- thank you.

One of the issues that you have talked about earlier in your evidence is I think at some point you said, What is the market?  You agreed that from OPG's perspective that they would like to pay market, but then the question was, What is the market?  Do you recall that exchange?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes, I do.

MR. STEPHENSON:  From your perspective -- have you given some thought to this issue of what is the market?

MS. IRVINE:  Absolutely.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And what is the answer from you?

MS. IRVINE:  Well, we believe that depending on who you are comparing against, as we said in our evidence back at chart 11, the Towers Perrin study, which is what we have for PWU- and Society-type positions, we think the 75th percentile is an appropriate market comparator for our unionized staff.

We do have a different view when it comes to management group compensation, or non-unionized, in which we take from that market a 50th percentile.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And can you assist me what the basis of those two choices is?

MS. IRVINE:  Well, the basis, as I mentioned yesterday, of the 75th percentile is that we believe that our jobs are broader and require a wider range of technical skills than do many of the comparators in the Towers Perrin study.

With the management group, as a result of the Agency Panel Review that was done by the government in 2007, they recommended that we use a 50th percentile market against a series of public and private sector comparators.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I want to ask you about, in the world of comparators, the significance of Bruce Power as a comparator for you.

If this Board is looking out into -- to the extent comparators matter, what is the significance of Bruce Power as a comparator relative to other potential bases for comparison?

MS. IRVINE:  Well, with respect to Bruce Power, it is probably the employer within the province of Ontario that has work programs and skills similar to us.  And I say similar, not identical.

And as was -- I was asked this question in the 2007 rate case, and I agreed that, yes, we used to own it, we used to run it.  They used to be our employees.  But there is a difference in one of the criteria that you suggested arbitrators use, and that is an ability to pay.

So in that respect, I do not believe it is a great comparator, because there are vast differences.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Sorry, I just want to make sure I understand that.  Is the implication of what you're saying is they have a greater ability to pay than you?

MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  In terms of the question of future recruitment, do you know, does Bruce Power also have this aging work force issue that you have?

MS. IRVINE:  I am not familiar with the Bruce Power demographics, but I can imagine it would be similar, although they have been not with us for ten years.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Ten years, right.

But even today, amongst the potential employers for folks that you view as highly qualified candidates to work at OPG, is Bruce Power another potential candidate for them as an employer?

MS. IRVINE:  Of course.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And as compared to ATCO in Alberta or BC Hydro, in terms of somebody in Ontario making an employment choice, I mean, what do you see as who they are looking at as your competitors for hiring qualified staff?

MS. IRVINE:  If you are speaking about very specific nuclear occupations, obviously Bruce Power or the nuclear services industry, the various companies that make up that, like AECL and so on, they're obviously the comparators for the -- or the competitors for labour for very specific nuclear jobs.

However, there are many skilled trades within the PWU that do have application to other employers.  And particularly within Durham Region where the bulk of our plants are located, we have the auto sector which is starting to hire again.  We are seeing small industry starting to hire again.

So those are places that would take skilled trades, like mechanics, technicians and electrical control technicians.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Those are my questions.  Thank you very much.

MS. IRVINE:  Thank you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Stephenson.

Mr. Pui, you are next.  How long do you expect to be?

MR. BELMORE:  Sorry.  Mike Belmore, and I will be asking a couple of questions for the Society, very quickly.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Why don't by do that before the break, Mr. Belmore?  Why don't you go ahead?

MR. BELMORE:  I am Mike Belmore, external relations officer for the Society.  And my friend, Mr. Stephenson, I think, has covered off most of what we might want to ask, but just a couple of quick questions.

I think it was well established in the proceedings that Bill 16 has no applicability to unionized personnel at any public employer, Crown agency or anything else.

There is no other piece of legislation that would address wage restraint for unionized personnel?

MS. IRVINE:  No.  There is no other piece of legislation.  There is policy direction to the employers, that they need to consider this in their settlement of wage adjustments.

Mr. BELMORE:  Certainly.  And that is a direct for the employer to go into bargaining and attempt to seek this, to the best of their ability?

MS. IRVINE:  Correct.

MR. BELMORE:  It is not a policy directive that, I mean, clearly with the arbitration decisions that we have examined, that arbitrators are bound to, or certainly bargaining agents for employees' unions are bound to?

MS. IRVINE:  Certainly not bound to.  Whether they take it into consideration, I think is a matter of conjecture.

Certainly one of them has not.  Whether there will be more coming forward, who knows?

MR. BELMORE:  Well, I would suggest there already are more, but we won't speak to them because they're not in evidence.

Have you received any communication from the government that would indicate that it is their intention to institute generalized wage restraint legislation that would apply to unionized public sector employees?

MS. IRVINE:  Not that I'm aware of.

MR. BELMORE:  Are you aware of any public statements by Minister Duncan, the premier or anyone else in government that it is their intention?

MS. IRVINE:  Not that I am aware of.

MR. BELMORE:  No.  Okay.  Is there any language in the Society collective agreement which with would compel an arbitrator to adhere to or consider a government policy statement, such as you spoke about earlier?

MS. IRVINE:  No.

MR. BELMORE:  No.  Okay.  Just one last thing.  With respect to the arbitration process, and of course there is sort of various varieties of arbitration, we are not talking about a final offer selection process, i.e., sort of a zero-sum game, where it is either the arbitrator accepts one party's submission in total or the other's?

MS. IRVINE:  I am not familiar with how they are going to set up arbitration for the next round, but that hasn't been our historical choice.

MR. BELMORE:  That has not historically been choice?

And just based on your experience, outside of a final offer selection process, in your experience, is it common for an arbitrator to adopt one party's position in total, or another?

MS. IRVINE:  In final selection, yes, but --


MR. BELMORE:  Outside of final selection is the question.

MS. IRVINE:  Outside of final selection?  It varies, but it is typically not carried on that way.

MR. BELMORE:  Okay.  Thank you.  That's all.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

We will take our morning break now for 15 minutes, and I believe, Mr. Shepherd, I have you down for first after the break.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Actually, it's Mr. Buonaguro.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Oh, okay.  Great.  Thanks very much.

--- Recess taken at 10:26 a.m.

--- On resuming at 10:50 a.m.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Please be seated.  From looking at my screen, I know it must be Mr. Buonaguro.
Preliminary Matters:


MR. SMITH:  Members of the Panel, just one preliminary matter, if I may.  My comment I direct to the Panel, and to Member Hare in particular, if I might.  I recognize your comment with respect to the information relating to the hydro figures that you had been looking for, and we will provide certainly the answer to the undertaking.

I did, however, just in the interests of time, want to draw the Panel's attention to the information at Exhibit F1, tab 2, schedule 2, which is a comparison of base OM&A for the regulated hydroelectric business over the relevant periods, as reflected in that period for the bridge year and the test period.  And there is a description in there.

We will of course synthesize it and make it handy for the purposes of the undertaking, but the information is in the evidence.  I just wanted to direct you to that.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Smith.  Mr. Buonaguro, whenever you are ready.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro:


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you very much.  Good morning, panel.  My name is Michael Buonaguro.  I am counsel for the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.

I have a short cross-examination for you today, and you will see I am using the audio-visual system to put my references up when I can, and, for that reason, I steadfastly refuse to provide reference books.  Well, that is not true, but this way I will refer to the actual exhibits, and if you want to look a lot of the time at your own, you will have time to do that.  This is mostly for the people trying to follow along.


And with that I will get started.

I am going to start with Board Staff Interrogatory No. L-T1-78.  Here you were asked about the interaction between the annual incentive plan and the fact that it covers both regulated and unregulated business.

And in the response, to paraphrase, you agreed that, yes, performance on the unregulated side could impact on the regulated amounts paid out for incentives, but that the disparity in the size of the unregulated business versus the regulated, and, in particular, the way in which the scorecard operates, means that it would be very small.  I guess you actually say "not significantly", would be the -- there is no significant impact.

Is that a good paraphrasing of the response?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes, it is.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, just to follow up on that, when we look at another exhibit, L-T1-90, which is another Board Staff interrogatory, at pages 3 and 4 -- so I am putting up page 4 by way of example, and I am just going to blow it up here.

The "performance incentives" line here, that is the result of the scorecard; is that correct?

MS. IRVINE:  This is not my table, and I don't have a hard copy in front of me.  I would prefer to look at the context of the whole table before --


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.

MS. IRVINE:  So is it possible -- maybe I can borrow one from Tom.  Thank you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So for context, this looks like -- I agree it is hard to see.  If I make it full size, it is hard to see on the screen.

MS. IRVINE:  No, I understand.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I can do that for a second here.  You can see that up here, the first column shows the unregulated percentage per item?

MS. IRVINE:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So I am going down - oops - just to take a look at the incentive percentage, which seems to be around 24 percent.  So that suggests to me that around 24 percent of the total incentive is allocated to the unregulated business.  I think that is simple enough.  That's correct; right?

MR. STAINES:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And also we can look here and we can see that the grand total, about 32 percent of the centrally-held costs, are allocated to the unregulated business, as well --


MR. STAINES:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  -- across all of the categories?

MR. STAINES:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.  So just going back to what you were saying in the first response, the first assertion was that it was -- I will bring it up again just so I don't misquote it.  The second -- sorry, the third sentence of the response says:
"However, given the relative size of the regulated businesses and their portion of the corporate support functions, it is not possible for extreme success in the non-regulated portions of the business to significantly impact the size of the Corporate Annual Incentive Plan ('AIP') budget."


But looking at table 90, it looks like over 30 percent of the corporate costs are actually attributed to or allocated to the unregulated business, which seems to me like a fairly significant portion.  Would you agree with me?

MR. STAINES:  Thirty-two percent, almost one-third of the business, is unregulated.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.

MR. STAINES:  Of the corporate costs, right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  That suggests to me that as between -- well, that suggests to me that the real factor, in terms of why it is that performance in the unregulated business doesn't really impact on the performance incentives, is the last sentence, which is:
"The most heavily weighted factors in the Corporate scorecard are cost and production factors, which are dominated by regulated operations."


That suggests to me, based on what we looked at in table 90 -- sorry, the response at I-1-90, is that the real reason or the predominant reason is the way you happened to weight the scorecards is such that what happens in the regulated business is what drives the level of the incentive?

MR. STAINES:  I will let my colleague answer the question about the incentive plan and how that might work.  But if you just look at OPG in terms of FTEs or head count, 76 percent of the staff at OPG work in the regulated business.  So, therefore, only 24 percent of the staff are in the unregulated business.

And, from my point of view, the incentive plan is more related to the number of staff than it is to the other allocation factors we have for allocating how much of finance or how much of HR is allocated to the various businesses.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And I guess that matches, if we go back to that I-90 -- I think the number is 24 percent is allocated to unregulated.  So you are saying that is strictly on the basis of head count, it sounds like?

MR. STAINES:  I'm the financial guy, and that is how I would like at it and analyze it.

MR. BUONAGURO:  In terms of how much of incentive actually goes in for allocation, this answer suggests to me it is driven largely by performance of the regulated business?

MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.  The bulk of the scorecard relates to production, project management, operations --


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MS. IRVINE:  -- OM&A.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, I should know this, and I have been looking on my version.  You can see I am using a consolidated PDF file here.  So these are all of the non-confidential documents that are on the record, as far as I know.  And I can't find the scorecard.  Is the scorecard filed in the proceeding?

MS. IRVINE:  No.  It is not part of the evidence.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And if I wanted to see the weighting for the incentives, I have to look at the scorecard?  Sorry.  If I have to -- if I want to see the relative weightings between the different factors, I have to actually look at the scorecard to determine what drives the incentive, whether it is regulated or unregulated, and so on?  I have to look at the scorecard; right?

MS. IRVINE:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can we get a copy of the scorecard for the record?

MR. SMITH:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  J9.4 -- sorry, pardon me.  J9.5.
UNDERTAKING NO. J9.5:  TO PROVIDE A COPY OF SCORECARD.

MR. BUONAGURO:  If I look at the scorecard, will I be able to look at that and determine the weightings?  Is it presented in such a way that is it is self explanatory?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes, it is.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you very much.  I will take that at its face.

I am going to go back to L, tab 1, 90 again, and I have a specific question.  You may have noticed when I pulled it up earlier that I had some parts highlighted.  So just for reference again, it is L, tab 1, schedule 90, and I am going to be looking at the 2011 cost of service and 2012 costs, the forecast costs, and specifically the centrally-held costs.

And so what we noticed is that for 2011, for the 2011 budget, you see I have pulled up -- you can take my word for it that is the 2010 -- sorry, that's the 2012, so don't take my word for it.

What I put up on the top is the 2012 budget, and you will see I have highlighted the "Other" line.  And below it, I have blown up -- sorry, the 2011 budget, which is blown up, and we have an "other" budget of 28 million.  So what we're looking at is the change from 2011 to 2012 from 28 million to 1.4 million.  That is what I am going to ask you some questions about.

MR. STAINES:  The panel 9 is actually the panel that will deal with centrally-held costs.  I believe they are on after us.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  But maybe -- I think I can clear this up --


MR. STAINES:  Okay.

MR. BUONAGURO:  -- rather quickly, the first part of it.  And then maybe the second part is what I have to bring up with panel 9.

The first part, poking around the evidence, I think I understand that the reason for the big drop between 2011 and 2012 is the change in the fiscal year.

MR. STAINES:  Yes.  There is a change in the fiscal year.  2012 is a 53-week year, as opposed to 52.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So there is a big drop in 2012 in order to account for the change between the calendar and fiscal year, and that accounts, presumably, for most of the drop between 28 million to 1.4; I guess it is negative 1.4 million?  Is that a negative?

MR. STAINES:  I believe it is.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But what I can't see, then, because it is -- because of that particular year, because 2012 is affected by the fiscal year adjustment that is being made in the table, I can't tell what is happening to the actual costs in the other line.

So I wanted to ask some questions about what is actually in that other line, other than this particular adjustment, and how that number has changed relative to previous years, which I presume don't have this fiscal adjustment, fiscal year adjustment.

MR. STAINES:  I believe that is probably best presented to panel 9.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I can do that.  Thank you very much.

I am going to pull up, very quickly, Exhibit F3, tab 1, schedule 1, page 31.

You will see I have highlighted the top of that page.  This is talking about the savings associated with the New Horizon System Solutions outsourcing agreement.  I think that is --


MR. KIM:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.  And you see I have highlighted here the statement or the assertion that:

"The annual savings targets were achieved during the renegotiation, and compared to the previous agreement, OPG expects to save about $100 million by the end of the five-year extension included in the new agreement."

So essentially, in the five-year term you are expecting to save $100 million; that is all that really says; right?

MR. KIM:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, related to that, I am going to turn to Exhibit L, tab 1, 94 which is a Board Staff interrogatory, and question (c), in respect, I believe, of the same agreement, asks:

"What is the annual dollar value of the newly agreed-to contract?"

You will see in part (c), you provided the annual figures.  Do you see that?

MR. KIM:  Yes, I do.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And our understanding -- and perhaps you can confirm -- is that on average, the difference between the original contract and the new contract on a yearly basis is about $16.7 million, i.e., on average, it appears that you are saving about $16.7 million per year, having signed the new agreement; is that a fair assessment?

MS. IRVINE:  I am not sure how that average was calculated.  Were you just adding the numbers that were shown in the response?  And dividing it by the number of years?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I believe so, yes.

MR. KIM:  I guess subject to check, that sounds about right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, looking -- focussing on this part (c) response, which shows the annual dollar value of the newly agreed-to contract, and you will see the figures 99.8 million, 98.7 million, 97.6 million, 94.7 million, 92.6 million and 90.4 million, between the years 2010 and 2015, are these nominal dollars or real dollars?  I.e. -- so for example, in 2015, when you say $90.4 million, is that what you expect to pay in 2015?  Or is that the 2009 value of what you are paying in 2015, and it has to be escalated?

MR. KIM:  I believe these numbers are undiscounted numbers, unescalated numbers.  So these would be 2009 numbers.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I see.  So what you actually pay under the contract in 2015 will be a higher number?

MR. KIM:  It would be escalated by whatever agreed-to escalation clauses in the contract, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.

Now, looking at -- I am going to turn to another interrogatory response, which is related to the same topic, we believe.  And this is L, tab 4, 27 which is a CCC interrogatory.

MR. KIM:  Yes, I am there.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And you can see I have highlighted under the second set of bullets, a number of figures.  I will blow it up for a second.

So my understanding is that this is related to the same contract; is that correct?

MR. KIM:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And what we wanted to try and reconcile is -- would be the relationship between these numbers, which are called uninflated pricing for base services.  You can see they're all -- they start at 79.8 million and go down over time, versus the numbers we just looked at, which seem to be nominal dollars, which start at -– and I can go back -- start at $99 million and go down.  Can you reconcile the two sets of numbers so that they make sense to me?

MR. KIM:  Yes, I can.  The difference between what is shown on the screen here in 99.8 for year 2010, versus what is shown in the, I guess, Exhibit L, tab 4, schedule 27, is the minimum project commitment that we have established as part of the new contract, and that minimum annual project commitment is $20 million.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  From a revenue requirement perspective, how does that operate?  For example, well, let's do the first test year.  For 2011, which number relates to what you are asking from revenue requirement?

MR. STAINES:  If we can go back to tab 1, schedule 94, you have in section (a) of the answer, where it has 12.6 million, 13.7 and so on, down to 22 million, and if you go back to Interrogatory L, tab 4, schedule 27, page 2 of 2?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.  I can get there.  Yes.

MR. STAINES:  If you go to the second page?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. STAINES:  You can see the totals.  The total savings are the same on both exhibits.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. STAINES:  So those are the savings that are being realized and are being reflected in the revenue requirement.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So then what you're telling me is that for the purposes of presenting it in revenue requirement, you start from the same base figure, or you start from a base figure and deduct these savings as the impact on the new contract, and that gives you the revenue requirement?

MR. KIM:  What is shown in here are the savings expected from the original contract.

The revenue requirement has been adjusted to factor in the expected savings of $100 million over five years.

Now, so that $20 million additional amount is really reflected as part of the capital and OM&A requirement that is going to be expended.  So it is really -- I don't believe it factors into the revenue requirement.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So it sounds like we have two things going on here.

We have the contract price; right?  Which presumably you are applying for as part of your revenue requirement; right?


MR. KIM:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And then you have the savings that that contract is going to drive?  Is that what you are telling me?

MR. KIM:  What this particular -- the IR is showing is expected savings as a result of new contract, and that savings is $100 million.  And that's been already factored into setting out base OM&A, and adjusted it appropriately.  And so therefore it is actually factored into our revenue requirement.

The $20 million project commitment is quite separate, and that is the obligation of spending a minimum $20 million, provided that they perform.  And that's -- that amount is the expected amount that we will spend with New Horizons on the projects.

On the revenue requirement side, that's been factored into the expected project OM&A and capital as part of the business services and IT plan.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you for that.

I can move on to what happens to be my last reference, and this is L, tab 1, number 100.  And this question asked you about -- well, the question was:
"Please list those services (collectively included in 'Centralized Support and Administrative Costs') that the regulated business units determined are not necessary to their operations and so all the costs remain with the unregulated business units."


The response was:
"The services that are not necessary to the regulated business and whose costs remain with the unregulated business units include energy trading, new business development and direct support activities to the unregulated business."


Now, maybe just a simple question, but when you are talking about these, for example -- or, in particular, the energy trading business, is there any impact in either -- in reality, or at least in theory, on regulated costs because of that activity?

What I am thinking of, in particular, presumably energy trading may impact the HOEP price, which may then impact the hydroelectric incentive mechanism based on our understanding of how that operates.

Is there any -- for example, is that a way in which what you do in the energy trading business impacts on the regulated amounts?

MR. STAINES:  I am not sure I can answer that question.  I know what we do is we take the trading activities as a separate business, identify it as an unregulated business, identify costs related to that business, and keep it outside of the revenue requirement.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Perhaps I can do that by way of undertaking, then, just to check to see if there is any in which those -- what the energy trading business does directly or indirectly affects the regulated business, in terms of costs.

I have given you the one example, which presumably is, I think, true, which is that, to the extent that the energy trading business has an effect on the HOEP, it would impact on the operation of the hydroelectric incentive mechanism.

MR. SMITH:  I am just pausing over our ability to answer the question in a meaningful way.

If I understand my friend, I think what he is asking is:  Would Dave Peterson -- Mr. Peterson's activities in energy trading have any impact on any of the activities undertaken by the regulated business?  Have I understood that correctly?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  I suppose we can answer the question in the abstract.  The problem is quantifying -- taking it to the next level, quantifying it, how much of -- figuring out what the impact would be, translating that into some portion of Mr. Peterson's costs, and then translating that and saying, Then the regulated business should bear some portion of that cost and it is some percentage.

I actually would have thought, from my friend's client's perspective, having the entire amount excluded would be preferable, but I take his question at face value.  But I am just not sure we can, at the end of the day, identify an amount that could be attributable to the regulated business.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I wasn't looking at it that way.  I think he is right.  I wasn't looking at it in the way in which he is interpreting it, which I guess is what I should clarify.

We are looking at it in terms of whether -- how the unregulated business that you are separating out may still, in fact, add costs to the regulated business, such that more should be allocated out as opposed to attributed to the regulated business.

I mean, if he wants to take an undertaking to think about it --


MS. CHAPLIN:  So the question is to what extent the unregulated activities affect either the costs or revenues of the regulated business?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Can you consider that question and respond?

[Mr. Smith consults with Mr. Barrett]

MR. SMITH:  This is the concern.  On the cost side, there is a detailed cost allocation study that breaks out the costs between the regulated and unregulated entities, and my friend is perfectly free to explore cost allocation-related questions.

If the question is:  To what extent does OPG's unregulated generation or trading activities impact, for example, market prices, and how does that, at the end of the day, play out?  That is a very, very significant undertaking and the utility of which, I must say, given the information we have on the cost allocation study, I don't see the relevance of it.  And I think at the end of the day it is going to produce something that would be extremely, extremely small in terms of dollar numbers for a lot of work.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, I mean, if I can get that response from the witness in terms of a high-level view of it, then I can accept that, rather than have Mr. Smith do it.

MR. SMITH:  Perhaps I should have been clearer.  I mean, certainly cost allocation questions should be directed to this panel.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.

MR. SMITH:  How the unregulated production impacts market, I don't think this panel would have any particular information on.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Are you saying I missed the panel, or is there an upcoming panel I should...

MR. SMITH:  I mean, the energy market's representative was Mr. Peterson, if that was the question that you wanted to address to Mr. Peterson.  That is my concern.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Smith, is it at all possible that any of the upcoming -- the corporate or regulatory panel might be able to shed some light on this question?

As I am sort of understanding and interpreting Mr. Buonaguro's question, it is:  To what extent do the unregulated activities perhaps impose some additional costs on the regulated side of the business because of the way the unregulated business is conducted?

I don't know that Mr. Peterson would have even -- I don't know if he would have been in a position to answer that question.

So I think it is an interesting question.  If this panel is not in a position to assist with it, I think we would be -- we would ask that you consider whether or not there might be a subsequent witness or panel that may be able to give some information on that topic.

MR. SMITH:  I understand Madam, Chairman.  Perhaps I can just reflect on it for a little bit.

The reason I pause over it is just having a bit of gas experience in coming out of a proceeding that dealt with this, I can tell you it is obviously for intervenors a significant question, how costs are allocated between the regulated and unregulated business, and it arises as a matter of course from time to time in these proceedings.

The reason I pause over it is I happen to know it generates a lot of work, that it is very difficult, and indeed the Board approved a settlement recently for Union Gas that involves a detailed study being done by a third party that I expect is going to take months to do.

So I will -- I think should appropriately think about the question and see how we can respond in a meaningful way.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Why don't you get back to us after lunch, or indeed on Monday morning?  Is that satisfactory, Mr. Buonaguro?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  Thank you very much.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And with that magnanimous offer, I can say I am done my cross.  Thank you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  Mr. Shepherd, are you next?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Madam Chair, I will be referring to four documents.  Sadly, I do not have a proper compendium today, but I do have some things prepared for you.

The first is a copy of the Agency Review Panel report, the Arnett report, which I have provided to my friends.  And the second is copies of three documents that I will be referring to in my cross.

I wonder if I could get exhibit numbers for those.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  The Arnett report will be K9.3, and the booklet of documents will be K9.4.


EXHIBIT NO. K9.3:  ARNETT REPORT.
EXHIBIT NO. K9.4:  BOOKLET OF MATERIALS PREPARED BY SEC.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then I will also be referring to Board staff's very helpful compendium of documents in a couple of places, and to an exhibit which I have a number of references to, F3, tab -- sorry, F4, tab 3, schedule 1, which has been referred to a number of times already.

Let me start by just asking to -- asking to clear up a question I have with respect to Mr. Smith's preliminary matter at the beginning, after the break.

He indicated that the details of the increase of regulated hydro aggregated compensation costs -- which Ms. Hare asked for, and is the subject of an undertaking -- are actually in F-4, tab 3 -- sorry, no, F-1, tab 2, schedule 2.  And I looked and I couldn't find them.  And I wonder if you could just help us with where they are.  That looks like it is a base OM&A variance description, and the labour costs don't even match.

MR. SMITH:  No, no, no.  Perhaps my friend misunderstood.  There are -- as I understood the question, there was a question relating to the drivers for the increase in the regulated hydro cost, compensation costs, and my friend will see from that section that there are explanations given, for example, a -- one or two new employees were hired in a particular year.  Those obviously drive compensation costs.

I simply wanted to identify that there is, in that section, explanations for changes in base OM&A, including in relation to hiring levels and staffing levels.

We will, of course, answer the undertaking, pull the information together and provide the underlying drivers as we have agreed to do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm sorry.  I thought he said the information was already there and I couldn't find it, but now I understand.

So let me get to the material I have provided.

The first is the Arnett report, and you have obviously seen this report before?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes, I have.

MR. SHEPHERD:  As has everybody in this room, I'm sure.  And I just want to ask you just a couple of questions about that.

First, can you take a look at page 11?  Do you have that?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes, I do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the report says that there are two key elements that you should look at.  One is who are your appropriate comparators, and secondly, what quartile should you be in, what percentile relative to the comparators.

Those are the two key elements; right?

MS. IRVINE:  On page 11, that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And OPG agrees that those are the two key elements in setting executive compensation?  Do you agree with that?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Good.  Then we look at page 15, and page 15, about two-thirds of the way down, refers to comparator groups, and says, and this is with respect to the five organizations that are being reviewed:

"There appears to be a bias in favour of utility/energy organizations in the private sector."

But then they go on to note that you have supplemented it with broader private sector profile.  Do you see that?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And they are critical in the last two lines, they are critical in saying:

"There is only very limited use of the broader public sector group such as the Ontario Public Service..."

Et cetera.  Now, we looked at your comparators, and it looks to us like, for example, the Ontario Public Service still isn't in there; right?

MS. IRVINE:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Why is that?

MS. IRVINE:  That's an excellent question.

[Laughter]

MR. SHEPHERD:  I try to ask only good ones.  I fail most of the time, but I try.

[Laughter]

MS. IRVINE:  The comparators that we used prior to going into the Agency Review Panel were a set of 37 companies across the country, that we felt were representative of the kinds of skills, the level of unionization and the 24/7/365 nature of the work at OPG.

As a result of the Arnett panel, we went more to a half-and-half public sector/private sector.  And in the public sector, the data that we were able to -- that Mercer was able to obtain are found in the companies that are listed.

And my understanding is that discussions with the Board and the Agency Review Panel, that those were approved.

So I do not know why OPS is not there.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry.  Your comparator group was approved?

MS. IRVINE:  My understanding is that the members of the Board who spoke at the Agency Review Panel review process talked about these comparators, and the agency members thought:  Yes, that is what we're talking about when we talk about the fact that there is not enough public sector.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So there is a document somewhere that says --


MS. IRVINE:  No, I don't believe there is a document.  I think it was a verbal.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  That's the first I have heard of that, so maybe I could just explore that a bit.

There was a meeting between your executives or your board and the panel, the Arnett panel?

MS. IRVINE:  There were several.  The board was required to make presentations and appear in front of the panel, as part of its process.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And the board said -- and I am going to take you to page 33 of the Staff materials.  This is Exhibit K8.3, and the actual document that is a VECC interrogatory, No. 24, L-14-24 under Issue 6.8, but is at 32 and 33 of the Staff materials.

And it has your comparator group; right?  This is your current comparator group?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so you are telling this Board that the Arnett panel heard this comparator group and said:  Yep, that's good?

MS. IRVINE:  That's my understanding.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  You were present at the time?

MS. IRVINE:  No, I was not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What is the source of your knowledge?

MS. IRVINE:  Verbal information from my superior, after discussions with the board members.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  All right.  I want to move to -- it is true, isn't it, if you use the Ontario Public Service, then the median would probably go down?

MS. IRVINE:  I don't know.  I just don't know the data from the Ontario Public Service.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, it is public data.  You never looked at it?

MS. IRVINE:  No.  We tend not to.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I wonder if you could move to page 19 of the Arnett report.  And the Agency Review panel said they recommended a guideline, which is that you choose the 50th percentile for executives and senior managers.

Now, you have done that; right?

MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And indeed, your shareholder basically told you to do it; right?


MS. IRVINE:  That's the recommendation of the review panel, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And they also said that your short-term incentive plan rewards should be above the 50th percentile.  Have you also done that?

MS. IRVINE:  I could draw your attention to the exhibit in the base evidence.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, let me just stop you for a second.

MS. IRVINE:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you first answer the question:  Have you done that?  Yes or no?

And then give us the background information.

MS. IRVINE:  In order to say "yes" or "no" I have to look at the table.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MS. IRVINE:  Okay?  So I am looking at F4, tab 3, schedule 1.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MS. IRVINE:  Page 36.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MS. IRVINE:  I see upon inspection of this table -- it would be very difficult to see, I think, on the screen -- but if I look down the column, the second column from the left -- which is called "annual incentive" -- if I look at percent of base for OPG versus market, you will see some are above, some are below and some are at market.

So we have not made significant changes to the level of AIP since the release of the report.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

My last reference to this report is on page 20, in which -- back on the Agency Review Panel report -- in which the panel estimated that your total cash compensation would drop by 25 to 30 percent for these classes - this is the executives and senior managers - if you adopted their approach.

And you have adopted their approach.  Did that actually happen?  Do we have that in the evidence somewhere, how much it dropped because of adopting that?

MS. IRVINE:  No.  We have not been able to replicate those results that Deloitte prepared for the Agency Review Panel.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you know how close you got?

MS. IRVINE:  No.  I don't think there was much change.  As I say, we could not -- when pressed, we could not replicate what Deloitte had done in order to achieve what they say are 25 to 30 percent lower.  We did not see that in the data.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So now I am going to move to -- I am going to come back to that, but to do that, I want to -- we wanted to calculate what that meant in terms of dollars, what that 25 to 30 percent was in dollars.  So we went looking for your 2K filing.  Do you know what a 2K is?

MS. IRVINE:  No, I do not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, for all of the other regulated entities that have rate regulation before the Board, they're required as part of their filing requirement to file a document called Appendix 2K, which is a very formalized approach to reporting employee costs.  And if you take a look at K9.4, we have reproduced that document.

And your filing requirements don't require that; right?

MS. IRVINE:  I know that it hasn't been prepared, so I can only assume it wasn't required.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so we went looking in your evidence for this data, trying to put it together, in effect, right, to say, Okay, well, maybe it is not in this format, but it is in there somewhere.  And we couldn't find it.

So I am going to ask you if you can undertake to provide us with this document, with your compensation information in this form, so that we can then do calculations like:  What does it mean if 25 to 30 percent reduction takes place?

Can you do that?

MR. SMITH:  I have a concern about my friend's request.  The Appendix 2K that he is referring to is a filing guideline, as I understand it, that's been promulgated by the Board in respect of electricity distributors.  There was, of course, a proceeding leading to filing guidelines for OPG.  This was not a requirement.  They're separate requirements, and, as my friend fairly recognizes, this was not one of them.

The information that OPG has in its possession that is responsive to the guidelines that it was asked to provide, OPG has done to the best of its ability.

I think, at this stage, to in effect ask OPG to file differently and inconsistently with its own guidelines is not a fair request.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, this is not inconsistent with the guidelines, and I am reading from -- I didn't copy it, because I actually didn't expect much resistance to this.  I am reading from page 17 of the OPG filing guidelines, where it says that they're required to file a breakdown of the following by employee group, and you can follow along on Appendix 2K, if you wish:
"Number of full time equivalents, including contributions from part-time employees, total salaries, wages and benefits, and salaries, wages and benefits charged to O&M.  In addition the following should also be provided:  Total compensation by employee group and average level per group, details of any pay for performance or other employee incentive program, the status of pension funding and all assumptions used in the analysis."


So, in fact, my friend's client is required to file not only what is in 2K, but more than that.  And if the information is all there and we just haven't been able to put it together, I am happy for my friends or the witnesses to simply tell us how to find it.  But I looked for hours and I couldn't find it.  I couldn't put together this table.

MR. SMITH:  Well, I continue to have the same objection.  My friend is right that the information -- that OPG has complied with its filing guidelines, to the extent it has the information.

So, for example, at Exhibit F4, tab 3, schedule 1, page 7 of 37, there is chart 3, which breaks down average employee costs by PWU, Society, management group; breaks down the wages by nuclear, regulated, hydro, corporate support functions, what have you.

There is another chart, chart 1, in the same piece of evidence.

The information has been filed by OPG.  I don't think it is a fair request for -- to ask the witnesses to then do what I think is fairly my friend's job, is to pull the information together.  If my friend now says that he tried to do it last night and has been unable to do it, I don't think that is good enough at this stage of the game.

I think the question should have been asked as an interrogatory.  At least then there would be an ability and time to pull it together.

MS. CHAPLIN:  One moment.

[Board Panel confers]

MS. CHAPLIN:  It is the Panel's conclusion that this information in the format requested would be of value, and given Mr. Smith's comments or assurances that the material is already available on the evidence, it is our conclusion that it would not be an unduly onerous task to ask for it to be presented in the way requested.  So we will get that undertaking.  Mr. Millar?

MR. MILLAR:  J9.6.
UNDERTAKING NO. J9.6:  TO PROVIDE COMPENSATION INFORMATION IN THE FORM OF APPENDIX 2K FILING.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

I wonder if I could then follow up on something that you said a few minutes ago, and that is, we were talking about the 50th percentile that you are using for management level of people; right?

So I wonder if you could turn to page 3 of Staff's compendium, which is the -- this is your chart 11, but restated for the 50th percentile rather than the 75the percentile; right?

MS. IRVINE:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the evidence reference is Exhibit L, tab 12, schedule 36 under issue 6.8.

And you did this only for union employees?

MS. IRVINE:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And did you undertake to provide this for other sample employees, too, at some point?  Did I hear you give that undertaking yet?

MS. IRVINE:  No, I don't believe so.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that a big job to do that?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Ah. Okay.

MS. IRVINE:  We do have the 50th percentile information in the management group benchmarking, which we just spoke about --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, yes.

MS. IRVINE:  -- a few moments ago.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, we have seen that.  So it would only be the Society, then, that is missing?

MS. IRVINE:  These on chart -- Exhibit L, tab 12, schedule 36, page 2 of 2, those positions are partly PWU, partly Society.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, okay.  I'm sorry, I thought it was only PWU.  This is both?

MS. IRVINE:  This is both.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, yes, of course.

So it would only be, then, your non-union non-management staff we don't have somewhere in the evidence?

MS. IRVINE:  The non-union non-management staff are in fact on the Mercer benchmarking chart.  It goes right down to administrative staff.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, good.  Then I don't need to ask about that.  I do have a couple of questions about this, though, because although you have accepted the 50 percentile target for management level, you don't agree that that is the appropriate level for unionized staff, do you?

MS. IRVINE:  I have a view that our unionized jobs are sufficient skill breadth that they are much broader that other companies that haven't undertaken a program like skill broadening that we have, where we have broken down silos of occupations, and we require people now to take training in activities that would not traditionally be attributed to that occupation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand that, and I understand that there are probably some positions at OPG that are really quite different from the same positions somewhere else because of the nature of the skill set that you require, that is needed for the job; right?

MS. IRVINE:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, in fact, when you did this table, if I understood your evidence yesterday, you actually decided what were the comparables and what were not; right?

MS. IRVINE:  We prepared in our evidence a table that compared to the 75th percentile.  We were asked in an interrogatory to do it against the 50th.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And your evidence was -- this is not an independent study -- your evidence yesterday, as I understood it, was that you chose the list of occupations that you would compare?

MS. IRVINE:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you chose it on the basis of which ones were comparable; right?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so presumably, if one of your positions is so different from Bruce or from Hydro One in terms of skill set, et cetera, that it is not comparable, it isn't on this list; right?


MS. IRVINE:  True.  But you have to look at the participants in the Towers Perrin study.  There are only a few that have nuclear expertise.  The vast majority of them do not.  And so, therefore, we think that the 75th percentile is an appropriate market comparator when you are looking at such a broad study.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So let me just ask about a couple of these, because I mean, I understand if you have engineers, specialists or group leader, that maybe being above the 50th percentile, if they're in charge of a group at a nuclear station, there might be a justification for that, but I don't understand engineer entry.

You are hiring somebody out of school, out of engineering school, or at an entry-level position, and you are paying them 20 percent above market?  Why would you do that?

MS. IRVINE:  I think that the terminology "engineer entry" can be reflected in many different -- this is really just the starting position in someone who has come in.  It does not mean they have just graduated, or that they are unskilled.

We could have entry engineers who have significant skills and training in other areas before they join the company.  They would still come in at that entry level.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So somebody who spent ten years at Bruce Power comes to talk to you and you say:  Oh, no, we can only hire you in an entry-level position?

MS. IRVINE:  Basically, we hire them at that low-level position unless there is something obvious that would compel us to pay higher up the band.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you would say to them:  We are not going to treat you as fully qualified yet.  We are not going to even treat you as developmental.  We are going to hire you at the same levels we hired the guy fresh out of engineering school.

It doesn't sound right to me.  That's why --


MS. IRVINE:  I don't understand your use of the word "developmental".

MR. SHEPHERD:  These are your terms, engineer developmental, engineer fully qualified.

MS. IRVINE:  Oh, I see.  Yes.

They progress, in step-by-step process, year-by-year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So when you are talking about a technologist, for example, which is somebody who presumably comes out of a community college or a technical but not engineering job, a degree in university, the entry-level person isn't necessarily inexperienced?

MS. IRVINE:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you do hire inexperienced people; right?

MS. IRVINE:  We do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And I just want you to notice I am not picking on the labourers, as Mr. Millar did.

What about the position junior buyer?  Junior buyer sounds like a position where you don't really have to pay a whole lot more than market to get people.

MS. IRVINE:  I think that without the specifics of what is in the junior buyer description in Towers Perrin's report or in our job document, I think you might find that junior buyer is -- has more responsibility than it might first appear, particularly if they're buying nuclear-qualified components.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So junior buyer is not junior?

MS. IRVINE:  They may be junior in the buyer ranks, but I am suggesting that buyers to OPG, particularly in nuclear, have higher skill levels than other buyers in non-nuclear areas.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm sensing a theme, that the reason you are paying more is because you run nuclear stations?

MS. IRVINE:  I think that is true.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Thank you.  That was easier than I thought.

I wonder if you could turn to the second page of Exhibit K9.4, and this is an excerpt from your Exhibit F5, tab 3, schedule 1, and it is at page 19 of that exhibit.  And it is entitled "Variable compensation ratio."

And what I am doing is I am harking back to the recommendation that -- of the Agency Review Panel that at least your management people have a higher percentage of short-term incentive pay.

And my impression from ScottMadden is that OPG's way down at the bottom of the list, in terms of variable pay.

And they think you should be higher; right?

MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And do you have a new target for that?  Of what your percentage should be?

MS. IRVINE:  No.  Because this is dealing with mostly management group compensation.  We do have incentive levels within the unionized ranks, but they are outside of the collective agreements and they are fairly minimal.

So do we want to increase the compensation costs associated with unionized employees outside of the collective bargaining arena?  And our decision was that we did not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, ScottMadden's recommendation is not pay your staff more money, is it?  Their recommendation is change the mix between fixed and variable, so that you decrease the fixed and increase the variable; right?


MS. IRVINE:  Yes.  You could understand it that way.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And have you taken any steps to do that?

MS. IRVINE:  That has to be done within collective bargaining, and no, we have not been able to do that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  We heard a discussion on panel 2 at some length about the new approach that OPG is taking, using benchmarking and top-down targeting, to be more performance-oriented.

Everybody in the organization is expected to sort of stand and deliver; right?

MS. IRVINE:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Everybody feels like they have deliverables?

MS. IRVINE:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Right?  And that's a -- you are changing the corporate culture?

MS. IRVINE:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And wouldn't part of that, then, be increasing the variable compensation?  That is, compensating people for more for doing what they -- what this new corporate culture is asking them to do?

MS. IRVINE:  To the extent that is possible, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so the barrier to that is basically that your PWU contract isn't up for discussion yet?

MS. IRVINE:  My basis for that answer is that in unionized ranks, the trade-off between fixed pay and variable pay is often seen as unfavourable by the employees.

And so therefore bargaining that fixed wages go down while potential incentive compensation goes up is a difficult sell.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Why is that?  You sat across the table from --


MS. IRVINE:  If I can be colloquial, a bird in the hand is worth two in the bush.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But isn't it true that to get a performance-based corporate culture, you are going to have to find a way to get the unionized employees to adopt it?

MS. IRVINE:  That's true.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What is your strategy?

MS. IRVINE:  I am not prepared to release details of our bargaining strategy.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, not bargaining strategy.

MS. IRVINE:  Well, if you want to get the unions to agree to that, then it is done through bargaining.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, I see.  Okay.

You have a strategy?  I don't want to know what it is.  You have it; right?


MS. IRVINE:  There are thoughts about how we should approach this issue, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  You have an audit done of your variable pay?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes, we do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am not going to ask you to turn to the reference, but it is done internally; right?  That audit is done internally?

MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Some organizations, it is true that some organizations have an independent external review of their incentive pay, particularly if they pay a lot?

MS. IRVINE:  That may be true.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Have you considered that?

MS. IRVINE:  Not really.  The internal audit basically checks to make sure that the results that are recorded on the scorecards and are -- and have decisions made on them by the president and by the Board are, in fact, the results that were achieved in the -- on the ground floor.

So the internal audit is not about how much did you pay, it is about comparing the results on paper in the scorecard with the actual results in the plants.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it is checking your math?

MS. IRVINE:  No.  It is checking the performance levels.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So if some of the performance criteria are squishy, they have metrics that have judgment associated with them, then the auditor can say:  We don't like this judgment.  We think that maybe you are making it too high or too low or whatever?

MS. IRVINE:  No.  It is if a certain plant indicates that they have produced X terawatt-hours, then we go to check that, in fact, the records indicate they have produced X terawatt-hours.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it is checking the numbers?

MS. IRVINE:  It is checking the numbers.  It is not just math, but it is checking the numbers on the performance levels.

And then once those numbers are in place, then it is up to the president and this Board to determine whether or not they think the score is appropriate for that effort.

So there can be both ups and downs in terms of decisions by the Board in allowing a score that might have been mathematically calculated.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, that's interesting.  I didn't see that in your evidence - so maybe I just missed it - that you have the scorecard.  It produces a number, and then the Board decides what number they're going to use?

MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And do they --


MS. IRVINE:  I think that is in the evidence.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, okay.  I'm sure it is.  And has the Board generally pushed it up or down, or what's happened the last couple of years?

MS. IRVINE:  It has gone both ways.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So what happened last year?  Did they push it up or down?

MS. IRVINE:  There were several measures that went both ways.  For instance, if we save more money and therefore maximize the target or use the maximum level of cost savings in OM&A, yet we did that by not completing the work we said we were going to do, then the Board doesn't view that as a home run.  The Board views that as, You did not do the work you did and, even though you saved money, we're not going to give you full credit for that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MS. IRVINE:  So those are the kinds of things that happened.  There are also situations where plants may make decisions that affect their productivity or the production targets, but the decision was made for the right reason.

Because this is an annual incentive plan, you have to be careful that you don't incent annual operational decision-making on something like a nuclear plant.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you don't want short-term
thinking --


MS. IRVINE:  Exactly.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- to be incented.

MS. IRVINE:  Exactly.  So if we see that a plant has taken on an activity because of the right reasons and, because they did that, their production was lower, then there might be some consideration made of what that number or score should be for that plant.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you say the adjustments go both ways.  Sometimes the Board says, Well, they didn't meet their target, but they tried very hard, so we will give it to them, anyway?

MS. IRVINE:  No.  They didn't meet the target, but the reason they didn't meet it is because they undertook a work program to solve a long-term solution that meant they could not achieve the production target for that year.

So, again, it is the long-term thinking rather than the short term.  It could have put it under the rug and decided not to deal with it this year and meet this year's production targets, when the right answer is, We need to fix this, we need to take a step back, do this work and take the cut in production.

MR. SHEPHERD:  When the Board adjusts the result --


MS. IRVINE:  They don't adjust the result, they adjust the score associated with the result.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Which then adjusts the result?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes, you're right, in terms of the math at the end of the day.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And it goes up or down.  Is the change -- has the change in previous years been a big one?

MS. IRVINE:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No?  So the puts and takes end up being roughly the same?

MS. IRVINE:  Pretty much.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I just have two other things I want to ask you about.

The first is you had a discussion yesterday with Mr. Millar about benchmarking the union staff.  Most of your staff, 95 percent or something, are union?

MS. IRVINE:  Ninety percent are union.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Ninety percent.  And so we have included in our materials pages 192 to 195 of yesterday's transcript, just so you have it in front of you.

But you will recall the conversation.  You talked about this, right, that -- he basically was asking you, like, Why wouldn't you want to -- why wouldn't you benchmark this?  And you said it is expensive.

MS. IRVINE:  I said it was offensive?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, expensive.

MS. IRVINE:  Oh, expensive, sorry.

[Laughter]

MS. IRVINE:  I beg your pardon.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Believe me, I don't think it is offensive and I am sure you don't either.

MS. IRVINE:  Yes.  Well, knowing the cost for the custom surveys we get done by Mercer on the management group, where most of the -- we know that the data we are supplying is easily obtained and that the comparator data is well found within Mercer's database, to get it for unionized positions would be a much larger prospect.

There are 1,200 management group members, and we like to benchmark at least 60 percent of the population.  If we were to benchmark at that level for the, you know,
11,000 -- 10, 11,000 unionized employees, that is a large piece of work, and it would be considerably expensive if done by a third party.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So help me understand.  It is not how many employees you have.  It is how many employee bands you have, right, levels?  That is what you benchmark?

MS. IRVINE:  No.  You are benchmarking occupations.  So what you would like to do is to find good benchmarks for at least 60 percent of your population, which would cover off a significant number of occupations.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, 60 percent of your occupations or 60 percent of your people?

MS. IRVINE:  Sixty percent of your people.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So 60 percent of your people are -- in PWU are in 20 occupations, maybe?

MS. IRVINE:  Oh, much more than that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Fifty?

MS. IRVINE:  I would say, yeah, between 50 and 60.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So the reason I'm -- 60 percent of your people?  Okay, yeah.

MS. IRVINE:  Yes.  But the Society has far more occupation codes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What I am trying to understand is why you wouldn't want this information.  Even if it costs a half-a-million dollars, a million dollars, if you are going into a negotiation that you are going to pay hundreds of millions of dollars a year in salaries, isn't having this information useful?

MS. IRVINE:  It may be useful, but I don't think it is useful to the tune of half-a-million or a million dollars.

I don't spend anywhere near that kind of money on salary surveys for all conditions.  And you have to also think about its effectiveness in the bargaining process.  Because you have a piece of paper or several pieces of paper that suggest this is where you sit in the market according to Mercer, I am not sure that that is influential with the union bargaining team or with the potential arbitrator.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, in fact, you talked about -- with Mr. Millar about how you could use it as a tool, and you said basically you didn't know how you could use it as a tool.  But surely in negotiations, just as Mr. Stephenson said arbitration awards are used in negotiation, isn't it true that you use things like external surveys and you say across the table, Look, this survey is here.  It is going to come in our next rate case.  It is going to be disclosed.  The Board is going to see what we should be paying.  We can't give you more.

Isn't that what happens in fact at the bargaining table?

MS. IRVINE:  That has not happened, in fact.  It's been my experience that with market data, that it is accepted by the union bargaining team and sort of put to one side.  They don't believe it is germane.  They're more concerned about internal relativity than external.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And my last question is a sort of a clean-up thing.  You have said somewhere that 15 to 28 percent of the base salary of certain occupations is paid as a licence retention bonus, and you talked about this yesterday; right?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes, we did.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I think you said yesterday it is 220 employees?

MS. IRVINE:  221.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That is about $6 million a year you pay in that bonus?  Am I right in the right range, 6 million?  It is probably in the evidence somewhere, but, again, it is one of those things I couldn't find.

MS. IRVINE:  Yes, I am trying to refer you to something concrete.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Somebody is going to invent a software program that indexes the evidence in these cases, and they're going to make millions of dollars.

MS. IRVINE:  It looks like -- I have done some rough calculations and that the total paid for -- in 2009 for these kinds of bonuses is around $7 million.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Wonderful.  Thank you very much.

Madam Chair, those are our questions.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  Mr. DeRose.
Cross-Examination by Mr. DeRose:


MR. DeROSE:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

Panel, my name is Vince DeRose.  I am here on behalf of Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters.  My questions will be few now, as I am coming later in the batting order.

And, really, they're in the sense of follow-up on really three areas.  The first arises from my friend, Mr. Shepherd's K9.3.  This is the report of the Agency Review Panel.  I don't think you need to turn it up at the moment, but it relates to your comment that verbal approval was given of the 2008 comparator group.  And I just want to walk through the chronology to see if I understand when this verbal approval was given, and by whom.

First of all, you would have received this report, I am assuming -- it is dated May 2007.  I am assuming OPG would have got it there or about; correct?

MS. IRVINE:  Hmm-hmm, correct.

MR. DeROSE:  And the 2008 comparator group that Mr. Shepherd took you to at page 33 of Board Staff's compendium, that would not have been created prior to May 2007, would it?

MS. IRVINE:  It was the comparator list we used when we did the study in 2008.  I believe there were discussions about it with the Agency Review Panel members and our board prior to the report being released in May 2007.

MR. DeROSE:  So your 2008 comparator group that you are using in this case was developed prior to you reviewing the report of the Agency Review Panel?  You didn't change it at all?

MS. IRVINE:  No, it was during the process.

MR. DeROSE:  But before you received the phase 1 report itself?

MS. IRVINE:  Correct.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And the -- when you printed the 2008 comparator group in the context of the Agency Review Panel's meetings, do you know the extent to which Deloitte or the staff to the Agency Review would have reviewed your comparator list?

MS. IRVINE:  No, I don't.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Now -- and I guess this is really where I am going, that Mr. Shepherd didn't take this extra step -- I would like to ask you for an undertaking for the following.  First of all, to go back and confirm if this verbal approval was ever confirmed in writing.

MS. IRVINE:  It was not.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  In that case, can you explain to me why something of -- I mean, I have to tell you, in this context, when you go with a comparator group and the importance that is attached to comparator groups, when an agency review panel says, if they said:  We agree that this is the right comparator group, I find it a little surprising that no one would confirm this in writing, whether internally at OPG, or whether asking the Agency Review Panel to confirm it, because that is a pretty big statement.

Could you explain to me why no one would -- why this has been maintained as sort of a verbal legend?

MS. IRVINE:  I cannot explain why it's been maintained as a verbal legend, but I suspect it has something to do with the fact, as you mentioned, that this is a big deal.

So the Agency Review Panel did not want to be prescriptive on which comparators should be used by each of the agencies that were reviewed.

However, when -- my understanding is that when our folks went forward and said:  We're thinking about this, this and this, that the members of the Review Panel said:  That looks about right.  We filed in 2008, and there were no -- no correspondence back from the Agency Review Panel to say you have misinterpreted us.  This isn't correct.

We have done it in 2009, and we have also done it in 2010.  And the filings that the Agency Review Panel have recommended that we do have all been completed.

MR. DeROSE:  Can you tell me who, from OPG, heard that?

MS. IRVINE:  There were a couple of board members that went across to do a presentation and to talk with the Agency Review Panel.

MR. DeROSE:  When the board members came back, were there any type of memoranda circulated to your group saying:  Congratulations, we've got the green light?

MS. IRVINE:  No.

MR. DeROSE:  When you receive approval of this nature, would it not be normal in your practice to circulate that type of affirmation to your group, to senior management?

MS. IRVINE:  No.  We simply present the proposal to senior management, saying:  These are the comparators we think we should be using.  And they say:  Looks good.  Or:  Change them.

MR. DeROSE:  I guess what I am saying is -- is that when the Review Panel verbally says:  Looks great, would your board members not come back and then circulate -- either advise senior management, their contact in your company, but would someone not develop a memorandum, to circulate it to senior management or to staff or to those involved, saying:  We have received -- we have received a positive affirmation that you've done the right thing?

That is not normally done?

MS. IRVINE:  No.  It is not normally done.  I don't believe that was part of the process here.

Remember that prior to the Agency Review Panel, we had a list of 37 companies that we compared against, and the concern from the Agency Review Panel was that many of those were private sector, and we ought to have more -- broader public sector, particularly in Ontario.

So when the list was proposed, they said:  Yes, that's -- my understanding is that they said:  That's the direction that we want you to go.

As I said, we filed three benchmark reports since then, using the same comparators that we proposed in 2007.  And there's been no response or reaction.

MR. DeROSE:  If the Review Board had seen your list and had said:  Everything's fine -- if I can turn you to page 15 of their review.

Again, Mr. Shepherd took you through this, but if they had seen your list and approved it, why wouldn't they just say:  We've seen the revised list and we have approved it?  As opposed to saying:  There appears to be a bias in favour of utility/energy organizations, and making the recommendation that -- in the second bullet:

"To the extent that public sector organizations are used as comparators, almost exclusively Canadian utilities, and there is only very limited use of broader public sector group..."

And they list the Ontario Public Service.

It seems to me that the fact that they are making recommendations and observations on what you are doing conflicts to a certain extent with the notion that they have approved what you are proposing.

MS. IRVINE:  I don't see that kind of disconnect at all.  I see them saying:  Your previous comparators were -- are inappropriate for these reasons.

And you will note that the comparators we now use do essentially meet the criteria that they set out.

I would also note that this --


MR. DeROSE:  Where do they say that?  Where do they say that your current ones meet --


MS. IRVINE:  They don't say it.  We say it.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.

MS. IRVINE:  But if you look at the difference between the 37-company survey comparators, and the 2008, '09 and '10 comparators, you will see that, in fact, we have done 50/50, public sector and private sector, and out of the 50 percent public sector, we have used more employers based in Ontario, and from a broader public sector group that also work, you know, seven days a week, 365 days a year.

MR. DeROSE:  I guess my –- I'm not looking at what you have done since this report.  I am trying to understand, if they had seen your list and approved it, why would they be making recommendations and telling you how to change things?

MS. IRVINE:  Because they're making recommendations to a number of agencies, not just OPG.  And they're saying:  What you did in the past, we don't like, and this is what -- the criteria you should use going forward.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  I will move on.

If I can take you to page 19 of the document, just at the bottom of the index section, it refers to what I would call the exceptional circumstances principle, that boards may deviate from such comparator group principles in, quote, "exceptional circumstances"?

Do you see that?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes, I do.

MR. DeROSE:  And then if you go down -- and they define exceptional circumstances as:

"The extent to which there is a measurable or demonstrable shortage of talent available at the compensation levels."

Then they go on below, and if you turn to the next page, it is the last sentence:

"Accordingly, they may pay above the guideline if it is clearly necessary to do so to perform these services adequately.  But they would have to justify it publicly."

Do you consider any portions of your evidence to be -- are you relying on the exceptional circumstances principle?

MS. IRVINE:  Well, I believe if you go down to the actual comparisons to market that we make, you will find there is really only one band within management group that is above the 50th percentile market in total compensation.

And I believe that is an exceptional circumstance.  The rest are either at or below the 50th percentile.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Finally, if you go to the last page, page 22, again, you can see there is overlap between myself and Mr. Shepherd, but it is this recommendation that the guidelines should reduce senior compensation in the order of 25 to 30 percent at OPG and Hydro One.

And, panel, I recognize this may be something you need to do by way of undertaking, but if this panel were to decide that your senior management compensation should have been reduced or should be reduced by 25 to 30 percent, what would the revenue requirement impact be of that reduction?

MS. IRVINE:  Well, let me first state that on page 22, the text provided by the Agency Review Panel says:

"Specifically, we believe the effect of our recommendations will be to reduce overall compensation in three ways over time."

"Should reduce senior management"; that is not saying we should reduce.  They believe if we adopt the recommendations that they spelled out, that that will probably happen.  It is not an order to reduce compensation by 25 to 30 percent.

MR. DeROSE:  Are you done?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  If this panel were to order you to reduce your compensation by 25 to 30 percent, your senior management compensation, would you be able to tell us what the revenue requirement impact of such a direction would be?  I just want the number.

MS. IRVINE:  I am sure that could be calculated.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Could I have an undertaking so that we know what the value would be?

MR. SMITH:  Yes.  We can provide that information.

MR. MILLAR:  J9.7.
UNDERTAKING NO. J9.7:  TO PROVIDE REVENUE REQUIREMENT IMPACT IF SENIOR MANAGEMENT COMPENSATION REDUCED BY 25 TO 30 PERCENT.

MR. DeROSE:  Panel Members, those are all of our questions to this panel.  Thank you very much.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. DeRose.  Mr. Rubin.

MR. RUBIN:  When were we planning to rise for lunch?  I was expecting to be after lunch.  I was looking forward to that.

[Laughter]

MS. CHAPLIN:  Are you saying you are not ready, Mr. Rubin?

MR. RUBIN:  Well, if I had a choice, I would defer to others, but I could go ahead.

MS. CHAPLIN:  I don't think there is anybody else except us, Mr. Rubin.

All right, we will break now for lunch and we will return at -- well, we won't be able to return until 1:30, so that is when we will return.  Thanks.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:15 p.m.


--- On resuming at 1:36 p.m.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Please be seated.  Are there any preliminary matters, before we continue with Mr. Rubin's questions?

MR. SMITH:  Two preliminary matters, Members of the Panel.
PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

MR. SMITH:  First, I had indicated earlier that I would reflect on my friend Mr. Buonaguro's question.  I have done that, and I have had an opportunity to speak with him.  I believe we will be able to provide an answer to his question.  It will be qualitative and not quantitative, but we have had a discussion and I think we will be able to satisfy his request.

The second relates to the --


MS. CHAPLIN:  Sorry, did we give that a number or...

MR. MILLAR:  I don't think we did give it a number.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Let's just do that now, then.

MR. MILLAR:  J9.8.

MS. CHAPLIN:  How might we describe that, Mr. Smith?

MR. SMITH:  To provide a qualitative description of the impact of OPG's energy market activity on regulated costs.  
MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.
UNDERTAKING NO. J9.8:  TO PROVIDE A QUALITATIVE DESCRIPTION OF THE IMPACT OF OPG'S ENERGY MARKET ACTIVITY ON REGULATED COSTS.

MR. SMITH:  The second issue relates to -- and I apologize, I don't have the undertaking number -- but it is the undertaking in respect of my friend Mr. Shepherd's question, relating to appendix 2-K, which was marked as K9.3.

I wanted to make sure that my comments were not misunderstood by the Board, for which it would be my fault.

OPG has separate filing guidelines.  And OPG has, to the extent it has the information, provided the information required by its filing guidelines in its evidence-in-chief.  And we can take that information and populate appendix 2-K.

What I was -- when I reflected on this issue over the lunch break, my concern was that appendix 2-K and OPG's filing guidelines do not, in their entirety, overlap.

In other words, there are -- there is disaggregation and information sought on appendix 2-K that is not required under OPG's filing guidelines, and which OPG does not have available in any meaningful or timely way.

For example, OPG's filing guidelines do not require the disaggregation of executive management and non-union costs.  They're simply aggregated as "management" and that is significant, at least in this respect, because OPG has regulated and unregulated operations.

To go back and try and break it out historically would be actually quite a significant undertaking, and then there are other areas like pension where it is asked -- on this form, anyway -- to be tracked versus current and accrued, which -- OPG does not have that information, certainly going back historically, and wouldn't be in a position to provide it in any sort of reasonable period of time.

My concern and the reason I am raising it now is I did not want to leave any part of the chart blank, with a note that said we don't have the information and it is not required under our filing guidelines, without raising it with you now, Members of the Panel, and telling you that this is the reality we are faced with, and then seek some direction in respect of the undertaking.

MS. CHAPLIN:  All right.  Well, so this was Undertaking J9.6, I believe.

MR. SMITH:  And Madam Chair, the reason I specifically raise it is you had indicated, in assigning the undertaking, that based on my representation that the information is available, that we will order the undertaking.  And I didn't want you to be taking my comments as though all of the information on this, that is requested in this appendix is available.

Much of it is, but not all of it.

MS. CHAPLIN:  All right.  So to the extent the information is reasonably readily available, it will be included, and to the extent it is not, you will note that on the answer?

MR. SMITH:  Yes, we will.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

MR. SMITH:  Yes.  Thank you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Rubin, I think we are ready for you now.

MR. RUBIN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  And the good news and the bad is that I think I will be brief enough that we will recapture much of the time that was lost by rising earlier than planned for lunch.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Rubin:

MR. RUBIN:  Panel, my name is Norman Rubin, and I am here representing Energy Probe.

I would like you to turn to the decision this Board made in its last -- in the last hearing on OPG payments, to page 32 and 33 of that Decision, which Mr. Buonaguro is posting on the monitors one page at a time.

And I guess my first question is whether anybody on the panel is familiar with that decision, and the last -- that part of the decision?

MR. STAINES:  Yes, I am.

MR. RUBIN:  Thank you.

And you would agree with me -- without our going through it -- that in general, it reviews the arguments on nuclear advertising from OPG, and partially accepts some of the arguments and comes down with a disallowance, a partial disallowance of OPG's planned spending on nuclear advertising?

MR. STAINES:  Yes.

MR. RUBIN:  And my first question is:  What did OPG do about it, other than collecting proportionately less per megawatt-hour in payments?

MR. STAINES:  Yes.  We did collect less.  What we did do is we cancelled the program, so we did not go ahead with the spend, with the CNA on that program.

MR. RUBIN:  So you did take --


MR. STAINES:  For 2008 -- for 2008 and 2009, both years.  We did not participate in that program.

MR. RUBIN:  And the intention is to continue that policy this year and in the two test years?

MR. STAINES:  Yes, it is.

MR. RUBIN:  And so you took -- just to clarify -- you took the $2.3 million that is mentioned in the second line as OPG's contribution to CNA's advertising program, you took that as identical to the 2.3 million that was disallowed in the last paragraph?

MR. STAINES:  That's correct.

MR. RUBIN:  Thank you.

And can you tell me how I could track the -- let's call it the other roughly $4 million of planned expenses, which as you can see, some of us were interested in?  Can I follow that through your evidence in 2010, '11 and '12?

MR. STAINES:  I believe the information that you would be looking for is not specifically identified in the evidence.  It is just in a general description of our public affairs group and what they do.

MR. RUBIN:  Well, continuing to restrict this discussion to nuclear advertising, can you tell me whether the level of expenditures of activity in the revenue requirement is increasing from the level that was discussed in the last hearing, or decreasing or remaining the same?

MR. STAINES:  The level is slightly decreasing, but it is still for basically the same type of programs that we had before.

So in the nuclear business, our advertising amount per year, for the test period, each year, is $2 million, which is less than one percent of the total corporate functions costs allocated, or directed to the nuclear business.

MR. RUBIN:  Sorry, you're telling me the $2 million is less than one percent of what you spend on nuclear power?

MR. STAINES:  No.  What we spend in the corporate groups, the corporate functions.  The panel, this panel represents the corporate functions, which in 2010 -- which is on table F3, tab 1, schedule 1, table --


MR. RUBIN:  Three?

MR. STAINES:  Table 3, nuclear -- sorry.  I don't have it in front of me yet.

And for instance, 2011 we spent $249 million to support the nuclear business.  Two million of that deals with advertising and site and community communications, which is less than 1 percent of that amount.

MR. RUBIN:  Yes.  I mean, just -- thank you for that.  First of all, just to clarify, Energy Probe's concern -- my client's concern and my concern, for that matter, are not restricted to the effect on the pocketbooks of electricity consumers, but to the nature of the spending and the propriety of the spending and the collection.

So some of this is principled and out of all proportion to the dollars, I confess, and some of it is in proportion to the dollars.

Would that $2 million show up on line 4 of that chart, while you are at it, the corporate affairs?

MR. STAINES:  That's correct.  It would be included in that line.

MR. RUBIN:  And you would agree with me that, in general, there was a big increase in 2008 in that line followed by a decrease, and then followed by a rise to a new level for the current year in the two test years just following the corporate affairs line, line 4 of table 3, the nuclear --


MR. STAINES:  That's correct.

MR. RUBIN:  And can you explain, in general -- in general terms?  And of course I am especially interested in things that have to do with not just advertising, but public relations and image relations and -- anyway, things of that nature.  But can you tell us, in general, for example, am I wrong to think that $2.3 million of the drop between 2008 and 2009 might be attributable to this Board's disallowance?

MR. STAINES:  In 2008 to 2009, no, it's not.  But there had been a reduction to other advertising expenses during that period from 2008 to 2009.  We did reduce our overall advertising expenses.

The 2 point -- I'm sorry, the 2.3 that was disallowed, which was 1 million in 2008 and 1.3 million in 2009, are not in these numbers at all, because we did not spend the money.  We cancelled the program.

MR. RUBIN:  So that decreased both 2008 and 2009, because those were the test years in that hearing?

MR. STAINES:  Right.

MR. RUBIN:  Thank you.  And the increase from the 2009 level to the succeeding three years?

MR. STAINES:  The main factor driving that increase is the costs we incur for this hearing, for the OEB.  There is a hearing in 2010.  There is a hearing in 2012.  There are increased costs in those years.

As well, in 2010 we did have an increase in spending in our emergency preparedness group, emergency management on pandemic supplies, and those are the two main drivers of the increase in costs in the corporate affairs line.

MR. RUBIN:  And the fact that 2011, when there is no OEB hearing, that that also seems to be breaking new ground in nuclear corporate affairs, that's largely inflation or other matters, or...

MR. STAINES:  I'm sorry, what was that again?

MR. RUBIN:  2011, when there is no OEB hearing, also seems to be -- in the absence of the OEB hearing years, it would also look like a jump upwards, would it not?

MR. STAINES:  No.  There are still some OEB costs incurred in 2011, not to the extent that it is in 2010 and 2012.

There is some inflationary pressure, but most of that is offset by other cost-cutting initiatives that we've put in place.

MR. RUBIN:  And if I were to broaden the discussion from nuclear advertising to -- why don't we call it everything -- forgive the phrasing, but everything a normal person would call "PR", would that double the spending?  Would it triple it?  Would it increase it 10 percent?

Could you give me a ballpark estimate, if I included the expenditures -- well, in fact, let's make it broader than nuclear.  If I asked you to include the expenditures that OPG will be making to enhance its corporate image, to get people to love it more, to increase public and political support for OPG's current and planned activities, those kinds of things, things that PR people do, what sorts of numbers would we be talking about and how much of it is in the regulated revenue?

MR. STAINES:  I am not sure if I could break it down by those classifications that you have identified, although I can say that the majority of the dollars spent are for programs such as diversity and other areas.  In hydroelectric, it would be our water safety program where we spend a significant amount of dollars on.

MR. RUBIN:  If I can interrupt you, "diversity" means racial and gender diversity?

MR. STAINES:  I'm sorry.  Excuse me, my mistake.  Biodiversity.

MR. RUBIN:  Ah.

MR. STAINES:  Sorry.  We spend a large part of our program today and going forward.  There would be some dollars spent in the future maybe putting sponsorships with the automobile industry for electric cars, things of that nature.  But, again, the majority of the dollars spent here are dollars spent in the communities that we operate, newsletters, performance reports, internal communications with the employees.  They all fall under the same umbrella.

MR. RUBIN:  When you refer -- I did notice in your evidence -- I won't take you to it unless we have to, but I did notice the phrase "sponsorship advertising" in the context of corporate support cost increases over the period.

Is that the same thing that you were just referring to?  Does that mean sponsoring advertising for electric cars?

MR. STAINES:  Some of that has to do -- some of that we do online is a program 'drive and plug', of which we sponsor.

Basically, it is just an OPG logo on the bottom of the website, but, again, that is promoting electric cars and the industry.

MR. RUBIN:  Would that show up in the regulated --


MR. STAINES:  A portion of it would be, yes.

MR. RUBIN:  Has OPG done any analysis to convince itself that a big influx of demand from electric cars will be good for the corporation?

MR. STAINES:  Well, I think -- first of all, I think it is good for the environment.  I think it is good for Ontario.  And it also helps promote OPG.  As you say, we do spend money to promote OPG.  I think it is very important, and things like that.

MR. RUBIN:  What I am looking for help in here is not -- it is not my intention to attack your spending promoting yourselves as a corporation, but it is my client's position that that spend should not be recovered from regulated ratepayers.

So if you can help me make those distinctions, please do.

MR. STAINES:  Well, I think it is very important that businesses operating in these communities need to give back to the community, need to show the community what they're doing, need to be transparent, especially a company like OPG, which is government-owned.

And that is a big deal -- a big part of our program is to be transparent, to show people what we have done, to put things in newspapers that, you know, show programs that have been successful, because that is what people want to know.

MR. RUBIN:  You would agree that people want to know the good and the bad?

MR. STAINES:  Yes.

MR. RUBIN:  And I wouldn't shock you to suggest that OPG's communication might be stressing the good a wee bit more than the bad?

MR. STAINES:  I wouldn't say it is any different than -- well, I think it is actually different than other companies.  I think we are probably more objective than other companies, that we do try to be transparent and tell people what is happening.

MR. RUBIN:  Would the same line item in the tables we have looked at, would those include educational materials that you are preparing, for example, explaining how green nuclear power is for school kids and for teachers?  Would that be in that same line item, or is it somewhere else?

MR. STAINES:  Yes, we do provide some educational materials.  To tell you the truth, I have not seen that material, so I don't know if what you say is in that material or how it is presented.  But, yes, we do pay a portion of a program that is run at schools.

MR. RUBIN:  And it would appear within the numbers we have looked at, but not within the $2 million; is that fair?

MR. STAINES:  Within that $2 million, within the program.

MR. RUBIN:  So what you called corporate advertising includes the educational programs?

MR. STAINES:  We have a wide brush of advertising.  What we call advertising is that what a normal company calls advertising.  We are not out there trying to sell more electricity in our advertising.

Our advertising is communications, more than anything else.

Now, we do have advertising for water safety, TV commercials.  But that is promoting safety more than it is promoting the sale of electricity.

MR. RUBIN:  Leaving out the purpose of the advertising, you are telling me that when you are describing something as advertising, that is not restricted to pages in print media and time on the radio, and on television; that it includes, for example, website materials or communication with teachers, and --


MR. STAINES:  That's right.

MR. RUBIN:  -- that sort of thing is advertising to you?

MR. STAINES:  Well, it comes under our advertising group.

MR. RUBIN:  And all of that together is now $2 million, where the evidence in the last hearing would suggest it was closer to 4 million.

MR. STAINES:  That's correct.  Well --


MR. RUBIN:  Oh, I beg your pardon.  That was 4 million in two years, wasn't it?

MR. STAINES:  Two years, so it is about the same.

MR. RUBIN:  So that is roughly the same spend.  Okay.  Thank you.  That's been helpful.

Thank you, panel.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Rubin.

Ms. Hare has some questions.
Questions by the Board:


MS. HARE:  If you could take you to chart 11 in Exhibit F4, tab 3, schedule 1, page 31 of 37, I just have a few quick questions.  You might not even need it.

I just want to confirm.  You said this was based on the Towers Perrin report of 2007?

MS. IRVINE:  Correct.

MS. HARE:  You chose not to purchase a more recent version?

MS. IRVINE:  That's correct, but we did update these numbers for 2009 by contacting Towers Perrin, asking for these specific pieces of information.

MS. HARE:  Oh, I see.  So you didn't purchase the study, but this would be based on 2009 numbers?

MS. IRVINE:  That's right.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  Good.

And I think you also said the other day that these numbers don't include bonuses or overtime; is that correct?

MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.  There's --


MS. HARE:  Is that because Towers Perrin doesn't include that in their benchmark?

MS. IRVINE:  It is difficult to collect that information on a comprehensive basis over such a wide variety of employers.  So we chose to stick with the base pay, because we didn't know the details of what does the incentive component look like, how is it measured, is it paid out regularly or not.

There's a lot of variables when it comes to incentive compensation, or overtime, for that matter.

MS. HARE:  And as I understand it, Towers Perrin provides you with the data, but then you are the one that looks at it and decides what is comparable and what's not; right?

MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.

MS. HARE:  Is that the difference between what a Mercer-type study would do, and that they would actually look at your total compensation and compare it to market?

MS. IRVINE:  When we hire Mercer to do a custom survey, yes, they do that work for us in terms of matching the benchmarks.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  That's helpful.

I have a very quick question for Mr. Stains.

You discussed the other day the OEB assessment.  And I believe the number for 2010, based on a budget, was something like $980,000?

MR. STAINES:  I believe that's correct.

MS. HARE:  Now, you would have the actual number for 2010.  Could you tell us what that number is?

The Board bills quarterly, so you would have the assessment for all four quarters at this point.  So you would know the 2010, or you could get the 2010 actual.

MR. STAINES:  I do not have it with me.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  Could you please provide that?  Thank you.

MR. SMITH:  We will.

MR. MILLAR:  J9.9.

UNDERTAKING NO. J9.9:  to PROVIDE ACTUAL NUMBER FOR COSTS OF OEB ASSESSMENT FOR 2010.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Ms. Spoel has some questions.

MS. SPOEL:  My questions go back to the question of the difference between headcount and FTEs, which I raised with one of the earlier panels.

And I know you have given some evidence on that, but I wondered -- and I know that some of it will come up in that exhibit, that K2 exhibit.

I did notice, however, that your filing guidelines, which Mr. Shepherd put up on the screen, which I don't have a copy of right here, do require you to report to us, to the Board, using a full -- am FTE number, I believe.  Yes.  It says:  "Number of full-time equivalents, including contributions from part-time employees," and so on.

So I assume that for any year that you have reported to the OEB, that you have done so on an FTE basis, not a headcount basis; is that correct?

MS. IRVINE:  I can't speak for certainty amongst all of my colleagues' evidence, but I do know that this year, we were asked to be very specific about whether we were using headcount or FTE.  And we have done that in the evidence that I have filed.

Traditionally, we tend to see headcounts as being historical, because they are taken at a certain level of time; and FTEs are the forecasted amounts in the future for work that hasn't been conducted yet.

MS. SPOEL:  Right.  No, I understood that evidence, and I just wondered, since the filing guidelines says information we presented in terms of FTEs, in some cases, OPG may choose to provide the information in terms of FTEs as well as headcount, so I just wondered whether -- and you may not able to answer this question at the moment, but I think it would be useful to know whether, in fact, you are reporting or someone in your organization is reporting to us based on FTEs.

MS. IRVINE:  Well, certainly --


MS. SPOEL:  That seems to be what the guidelines require.

MS. IRVINE:  Sorry.  It seems that the future information is definitely provided in FTEs, and I believe there is an undertaking to provide the FTE numbers going back for 2007, '08 and '09.

So I believe that those are contained in that answer to that undertaking, which I am not sure has been filed yet.

MS. SPOEL:  No, I don't think it has.  Thank you.

The other thing I wonder was I think somebody made a comment earlier, and I don't know who it was, that headcount is always higher than -- no, lower than FTEs.  A headcount would be lower than FTEs.  And I wondered how you deal with overtime payments.

If you calculate your FTEs going forward, assuming a certain number of hours per week, and therefore hours per your count constitutes an FTE, what happens if an individual works full-time -- 35 hours a week or 40, whatever the case may be -- and then also puts in a significant amount of overtime, which I think does happen in some cases?  How would that overtime be captured?  Would that be a show up as a headcount?  Or would it show up in some other category?

MS. IRVINE:  It should show up as part of the FTE requirement.  Headcount is literally what it is.  It's how many people or heads do we have on the payroll at any given time.


So it does -- so if we have two people working part-time, it shows up as two, even though in combination, it may just be one salary that is paid in the FTE amount.

So for headcount to be higher than FTE would mean that you are hiring a lot of people that you didn't plan for.  And so headcount is almost always lower than FTE, because we use the FTE calculation based on the number of hours required to get the work completed in the program.

Once we determine what skill sets are required and what jobs are needed, then it is priced out accordingly.

So if a job was planned to be, say, 100 hours long, and we find that it is taking 120, we don't hire an extra person to do the 20 hours.  We simply use the overtime.

But then that would have to be taken off another project that would have to be below 20, in order to equalize the FTE amount.

MS. SPOEL:  Right.  No, I understand that.  What I am wondering is when you do your -- there was a statement made, and I don't know that it was necessarily by you, but I heard someone say that FTE is going to be -- sorry, that headcount will be –-

MS. IRVINE:  Headcount is almost always lower than FTEs.

MS. SPOEL:  Lower, but I am just wondering if that would be the case if you had certain heads who actually worked -- if you had 10 people and they each worked 20 hours of overtime a month, that would be the equivalent of having another couple of people on staff, but there are full-time equivalents because the extra hours of work are being done, but in fact, you still only have 10 people, even though maybe they're doing 11 FTEs of work.

That is possible, is it not?

MS. IRVINE:  That is exactly what happens normally.

MS. SPOEL:  So your headcount is lower than your FTE?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes.

MS. SPOEL:  Even though if you had two part-time people, they would be two headcounts, but only perhaps one FTE?

MS. IRVINE:  I would say that we probably have more people working overtime than we do working part-time.

MS. SPOEL:  Okay.  Thank you.  That helps.

The other question I had, which I wondered about and I was told to ask this panel, was:  If you had somebody who was on long-term disability or on maternity leave or something of that nature, would they still show up as a headcount?  Or would they not?  How does that work?

MS. IRVINE:  If you are on maternity leave and were still paying you, as we pay the top-up for partial of those 17 weeks, then yes, you still appear as headcount because you are still an active employee on the payroll.

People on LTD, or people who are on secondment, for instance, to another company, or those on transition payrolls do not form part of the headcount.

MS. SPOEL:  Okay, thank you.  That is helpful.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Ms. Irvine, I have some questions for you.  In your discussions with Mr. Stephenson, one of the items that -- this was in the context of the market objective and the 75th percentile or the 50th percentile, and that sort of thing, and there was a bit of discussion about Bruce Power.

And I believe you said that OPG's view and your view was that Bruce Power wasn't necessarily a great comparator, and one of the factors was around the consideration that might be given to ability to pay.  Do you recall that?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes, I do.

MS. CHAPLIN:  I believe you said that Bruce Power had a greater ability to pay.  Did I hear you correctly?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes.

MS. CHAPLIN:  And can you give me a bit more on that?  Why is that?

MS. IRVINE:  I believe it is because Bruce Power is not a regulated entity.

MS. CHAPLIN:  And therefore?

MS. IRVINE:  Therefore, they can charge market rates for all of their production.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.

MS. IRVINE:  Or rates that they have already negotiated with the government.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  And then, again, on this -- the company's view that the 75th percentile is the appropriate comparison point, and I think you -- there may have been other factors, but I think sort of the two -- one of the factors that you identified was the fact that you believe that your labour pool has broader skills than perhaps many of the many comparators, and, in fact, the skills are broader than what the labels on the occupations might give one to believe.

Now, have you -- or have you commissioned any analysis that specifically looks at the breadth of skills held by people who hold those positions in the comparative companies?  I guess I am asking sort of what evidence would we have to sort of backup that claim on OPG's part?

MS. IRVINE:  There are not too many unionized employers that have broken down the job family silos that traditionally exist in skilled trades.  For instance, electricians rarely do mechanical work.  Mechanics rarely perform electrical work.  Operators aren't mechanics, so on and so on and so on.

We have done that within OPG and we did it in 2011 negotiations with the PWU, and it was implemented in 2002 and 2003.

So now we have the ability, within the collective agreement, to ask a mechanic to learn rudimentary electrician skills, so that instead of sending out a mechanic and an electrician to say fix a pump, one being to disconnect the motor, the other being to fix the pump, we could send out one employee.

So we do know that those kinds of things are not traditionally found in unionized workplaces, that we have cut some ground there.

MS. CHAPLIN:  And what was it that led you to make that change?

MS. IRVINE:  It was we wanted to increase productivity.  We had an awful lot of work to do, and we were having maintenance backlogs and kinds of things, and we were trying to increase the amount of work that one employee could do.

MS. CHAPLIN:  And would any of the entities in your comparator group be facing any of those kinds of pressures?  Would they not be -- wouldn't they all be facing those sort of pressures?

MS. IRVINE:  I would think a substantial number would.  It is whether they are prepared to pay for the solution.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.

MS. IRVINE:  And we were in 2011.

MS. CHAPLIN:  So it is your view that OPG has moved in this direction, but you have seen nothing to indicate that anybody in the comparator group is moving -- has moved in the same direction?

MS. IRVINE:  Other than the work that was done in Ontario Hydro with some of the regional maintainers which are now with Hydro One.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Right, okay.  So the one aspect was the skill broadening, and I believe one of the other main aspects was the predominance of labour related to the nuclear operations; is that correct?

MS. IRVINE:  Correct.

MS. CHAPLIN:  So help me.  What is it about those types of work categories that inherently mean they should be paid in the higher range, at the 75th percentile, as opposed to the 50th percentile?

MS. IRVINE:  Well, generally, we find that within the nuclear environment, work is very prescribed and proceduralized, and it is a series of quite complicated knowledge streams that you would need to know in order to follow the procedure appropriately when you are doing work.

And so we believe that those kinds of requirements are not necessarily found in many other non-nuclear workplaces.

MS. CHAPLIN:  So it is the level of -- so the level of prescription regarding the procedures is higher and therefore the people should be paid more?

MS. IRVINE:  The people are required to have additional skills and understanding the nuance of the procedure and being able to follow it and knowing where to look for the procedure, you know, what binder is it found in, et cetera, et cetera.

There is a lot of precision required within the nuclear industry that is not required elsewhere.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  So it is related to the skill level.  Now, should that also be reflected -- if it is a higher level of skill that is required and that that is also recognized in the compensation, would the corollary be a higher level of performance is expected, as well --


MS. IRVINE:  I think --


MS. CHAPLIN:  -- and productivity?  I guess I am also interested in the question of productivity.

MS. IRVINE:  I think the productivity question is answered through the skill broadening response.

In terms of performance, target performance is required of everyone.  So everyone is required to hit their performance targets.

MS. CHAPLIN:  I guess I'm saying should we expect from OPG's work force a commensurate higher level of performance, which reflects the higher level of skill and the higher level of compensation?

MS. IRVINE:  Not in a base pay program.

MS. CHAPLIN:  And why is that?

MS. IRVINE:  Because base pay assumes that it is paying for the skills and the scope of responsibility of the jobs, not of the performance of the individuals.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.

Okay, those are my questions.  Those are the Panel's questions.  Mr. Smith, do you have anything in re-examination?

MR. SMITH:  I have no questions in re-examination.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  The panel is excused with the Board's thanks, and we are ready for the next panel.

MR. SMITH:  Members of the Panel, Mr. Keizer will be returning, and then I am on for the rest of the case.

MR. KEIZER:  Good afternoon, Madam Chair.

Madam Chair, if I could have a moment to introduce you to the finance and business process panel?  Starting with the gentleman closest to me is Mr. David Bell.  Next to Mr. Bell is Mr. Nathan Reeve, who I believe has been sworn from an earlier panel --


MS. CHAPLIN:  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  -- so would continue under oath unless you wish to re-swear him.

MS. CHAPLIN:  That's fine, as long as he understands we still expect him to tell the truth.

[Laughter]

MR. KEIZER:  And next to Mr. Reeve is Mr. Robin Heard, and finally is Mr. David Halperin.  If they could go forward to be sworn.
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David Bell, Sworn


David Halperin, Sworn


Robin Heard, Sworn


Nathan Reeve, Sworn Previously

Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Keizer:


MR. KEIZER:  Thank you.  Then if I could just lead the witnesses through a short direct examination, starting first with you, Mr. Bell, you are manager corporate accounting; is that correct?

MR. BELL:  That's correct.

MR. KEIZER:  Is your microphone on?

MR. BELL:  Green light?

MR. KEIZER:  Perfect.  Okay.  As manager of corporate accounting, so you are involved with the developing and maintaining process support for monthly accounting and reporting; is that correct?

MR. BELL:  That's correct.

MR. KEIZER:  You are also involved with managing the financial closing process?

MR. BELL:  Correct.

MR. KEIZER:  You have a bachelor of administration services -- administrative services, sorry, from York University, and you are also a certified general accountant; is that correct?

MR. BELL:  Correct.

MR. KEIZER:  You have been an employee with Ontario Power Generation or its successor since -– sorry, or its predecessor, Ontario Hydro, since 1997; is that correct?

MR. BELL:  That's correct.

MR. KEIZER:  With respect to the prefiled evidence filed in this proceeding relating to finance and business process, were you involved with its preparation or was it prepared under your supervision?

MR. BELL:  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  And do you adopt that evidence for purposes of this proceeding?

MR. BELL:  I do.

MR. KEIZER:  And with respect to interrogatories that were filed, were you involved in the preparation of responses to interrogatories prepared in respect to the prefiled evidence in this matter?

MR. BELL:  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  And do you adopt that evidence for purposes of this proceeding?

MR. BELL:  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  Thank you.  Mr. Reeve, I think you have already been introduced to the panel as a result of your appearance on a previous panel, but you are the vice-president, financial services; correct?

MR. REEVE: Correct.

MR. KEIZER:  And with respect to the prefiled evidence in this proceeding relating to finance and business processes, was that evidence prepared by you or under your supervision?

MR. REEVE:  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  And do you adopt that evidence for purposes of this proceeding?

MR. REEVE: Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  And with respect to interrogatories filed, were you responsible or involved in the preparation of responses to interrogatories related to the –- sorry, interrogatory responses related to the prefiled evidence?

MR. REEVE: Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  And do you adopt that evidence for purposes of this proceeding?

MR. REEVE: Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  Thank you.

Mr. Heard, you are vice-president finance, and chief controller; is that correct?

MR. HEARD:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. KEIZER:  And in that position you oversee financial and operational management reporting?

MR. HEARD:  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  And you are also involved in financial support for strategic objectives, as well as tax planning and compliance for OPG?

MR. HEARD:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. KEIZER:  And you have an MBA from York University, and as well, you have the designation as a chartered accountant; correct?

MR. HEARD:  I do.

MR. KEIZER:  And you have been an employee with Ontario Power Generation since 2002; correct?

MR. HEARD:  Yes that's correct.

MR. KEIZER:  With respect to the prefiled evidence filed in this proceeding relating to finance and business process, was that evidence prepared by you or under your supervision?

MR. HEARD:  Yes, it was.

MR. KEIZER:  And for purposes of this proceeding, do you adopt that evidence?

MR. HEARD:  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  And with respect to interrogatories, were you involved in the preparation of responses to interrogatories prepared in respect of that prefiled evidence?

MR. HEARD:  Yes, I was.

MR. KEIZER:  And do you adopt that evidence for purposes of this proceeding?

MR. HEARD:  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  Thank you.  And Mr. Halperin, you are director, financial and business planning corporate finance; is that correct?

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  And in that position, you are responsible for developing, implementing and managing the annual corporate business planning process?

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  And also, you have been involved in consolidated monthly financial and operation performance reports, to senior management and others?

MR. HALPERIN:  That's correct.

MR. KEIZER:  And you have a master's of business administration from the University of Toronto?

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  And you have been an employee of Ontario Power Generation or its predecessor since 1978?

MR. HALPERIN:  That's correct.

MR. KEIZER:  And with respect to the prefiled evidence filed in this proceeding relating to finance and business process, was that prepared by you or under your supervision?

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  And do you adopt that evidence for purposes of this proceeding?

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  And were you responsible or involved in the preparation of interrogatories that were prepared -- sorry, were you responsible for the -– yes, for the preparation of responses to interrogatories filed in respect of the prefiled evidence in this proceeding?

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  And do you adopt that evidence for purposes of this proceeding?

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  Thank you.

Madam Chair, I have no other direct examination, and as a result, the panel is now available for cross-examination.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

Mr. DeRose, I have you first up.

MR. DeROSE:  For the rest of the day.

[Laughter]

MS. CHAPLIN:  Excellent, and you will recall that we will have to rise at 4:00 o'clock today.

MR. DeROSE:  Yes, absolutely.  And I think subject to surprises that come along the way, I will take us right till 4:00 o'clock.

MS. CHAPLIN:  And probably we will probably also need a brief break, so I will leave it in your hands when that might be.

MR. DeROSE:  If you give me a time when you think would be ideal for you, I will work around it.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Some time between 2:45 and 3:00 o'clock, probably.

MR. DeROSE:  Perfect.  Perfect.
Cross-Examination by Mr. DeRose:


MR. DeROSE:  Good morning, panel –- well, not morning anymore.  Good afternoon.  My name is Vince DeRose.  I am here on behalf of Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters.

Panel, in terms of our cross-examination, there are two areas that I am going to be asking you questions about.

The first, which is our primary interest, is the extent to which OPG took into consideration customer impacts in its business planning process, and the steps that surround that process.

And secondly, I have a number of questions on income tax.

Now, just before I start down that road, I just want to confirm that the revenues and costs related to Bruce nuclear facilities, as it relates to the recovery of the deferral account component, as well as the income tax deferral account, that is panel 10, not this panel; is that correct?

MR. KEIZER:  Madam Chair, if I may, this panel, I think, relates to the quantum.  And how it is dealt with within the context of the deferral account and variance account is panel 10, the last panel.  Is that helpful?

MR. DeROSE:  Well, let me ask a question.  When you talk about the "quantum" --


MR. KEIZER:  So in other words, if I could give you an example, the derivation relating to the tax loss variance account, the details related to the number is with respect to this panel; how the variance account will be disposed of would be in the last panel.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Fair enough.  Thank you very much.  That is helpful.

Now, Madam Chair, I've prepared a compendium of documents.  We have copies for you.  And I believe the panel should already have copies.  We provided them to counsel both by e-mail and then this morning.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, they have copies.  We will call that Exhibit K9.5, the CME compendium of documents.
EXHIBIT NO. K9.5:  CME COMPENDIUM OF DOCUMENTS.

MR. DeROSE:  Just the weight alone should be quite threatening.

[Laughter]

MR. DeROSE:  And panel, if I can start you off with tab 2, and at tab 2, you will see this is from your filed evidence, Exhibit A2-2-1, attachment 1.  It is your 2010 to 2014 business planning instructions.

First of all, as I understand it, this was prepared either by you or under your supervision; is that right?

MR. HALPERIN:  That's correct.

MR. DeROSE:  And is it fair, if I were to describe this as this -- these instructions provided guidance on how the various line departments or line functions would prepare their individual business plans; correct?

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.

MR. DeROSE:  And once those business plans were prepared, you would receive them and then analyze them and ask questions as needed?

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And now, who gives you guidance on how to prepare these instructions?  Who do you take guidance from?

MR. HALPERIN:  Basically, I review the situation facing the company, and try to reflect that in these guidelines.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  So it's -- let me ask it another way.  First of all, is there anyone superior to you in OPG that would sit down and give you, personally, guidance on how they would like you to prepare these business instructions?

MR. HALPERIN:  Not in that manner.  I would prepare these, and they would then be reviewed by senior management.

MR. DeROSE:  And so -- okay.  Well, let me perhaps come at it in a different way, and see if there are sources of guidance that I would expect perhaps you would look to in preparing these.

Can I have you turn to tab 3?  Tab 3 is, again, Exhibit A1-4-1, attachment 2.  This is the memorandum of agreement of August 2005 between your shareholder and OPG.

First of all, I assume that you have seen this document before?

MR. HALPERIN:  I am not sure I have seen it before, but I am familiar with some of the contents.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  In preparing instructions on how to prepare business plans, would you not consider the memorandum of agreement between OPG and its shareholder as a foundation document, in the sense that it establishes the relationship between OPG and the government of Ontario?

MR. HALPERIN:  To the point that there are elements that relate specifically to requirements of the business planning process, yes.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  But you didn't feel, in preparing the business planning process, that it was necessary or prudent for you to review the agreement itself?

MR. HALPERIN:  No.  Most of the elements in here are fairly generic, if I can say that, in terms of direction and mandate.

MR. DeROSE:  Well, have you since reviewed this agreement?

MR. HALPERIN:  No.

MR. DeROSE:  And how would you know that the elements are generic?

MR. HALPERIN:  Well, sorry.  I was looking at it this morning when I received the binder.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  So this morning would have been the first time that you looked at this document?

MR. HALPERIN:  I am trying to recall.  I mean, when it was first provided to us five years ago, I think there were elements that were discussed with management in terms of what had to be addressed.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Well, can I take you to page 3?  I realize it is not numbered, but there are handwritten numbers in the bottom right-hand corner.  And the first question I have is:  In the top section just above the heading "Financial Framework", number 4 says:
"Once approved by OPG's Board of Directors, OPG's annual performance targets and investment plan will be submitted to the Shareholder and the Minister of Finance for concurrence."


Now, in that context, when the memorandum of agreement is referring to annual performance targets and investment planning, is that the business plans that are presented to the board of directors?

MR. HALPERIN:  Essentially.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  So just to confirm, if I can have you turn to tab 5, you will see that's the hydro generation business plan dated November 19th, 2009.  Do you see that?

MR. HALPERIN:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  So for the hydro generation side, that would be what -- what number 4 what I have just read you to the -- that you would submit to the shareholder and the Minister of Finance for concurrence.  That would be the hydro generation, and then tab 6 would be the nuclear?

MR. HALPERIN:  I don't believe the plans are submitted to the Ministers identified in the memorandum of understanding specifically.  However, a summary of the business plan is provided to the Ministers.  In advance of that, there is a briefing session held with representatives from Ministries of Finance and Energy in which these plans are basically walked through and discussed.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  So these are not the plans that are sent to the Minister of Energy and Minister of Finance for concurrence?

MR. HALPERIN:  To be honest, I am not involved in that communication process between OPG and the ministries.  That is handled out of our corporate secretary's office.

MR. DeROSE:  And, I'm sorry, you are the corporate panel.  Is that not -- does that not fall within your bailiwick?

MR. HALPERIN:  No, because they deal with relations with the government specifically.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Are there any panels or witnesses being brought forward that can speak to that?  Do I have the wrong panel?

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, Mr. DeRose, I actually was -- was whispering something.  I was caught in school speaking out of turn.  But if you could please just make your point again, and I can respond to it?

MR. DeROSE:  Mr. Halperin has just told me that he is not responsible for submitting performance targets and investment plans to the Minister of Energy and Minister of Finance for concurrence.  And he said it was -- I believe you said it was corporate secretary is in charge of that?  Is that...  Mr. Halperin, did you say corporate secretary?

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  The corporate secretary would be an actual individual within the company, as an officer.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Well --


MR. KEIZER:  You're asking what panel can respond?

MR. DeROSE:  Well, perhaps let me ask it this way.  Can this panel tell me whether -- were these business plans, either in this form or another form, ever sent to the Minister of Energy and Minister of Finance for concurrence?

MR. HALPERIN:  These plans -- as a precursor to the briefing that I mentioned, these plans are sent over to the government, to the ministerial staff.  And I believe they prepare briefing notes and other types of analyses that they then brief the Ministers on.  So I guess they get them indirectly that way.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And would that occur before November 19th, 2009 when it is presented to your board of directors, or after?

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.  That briefing occurs before the plan is presented to the board of directors.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And do you receive concurrence from the ministry before the presentation to the board of directors?

MR. HALPERIN:  No.  The concurrence is sought after the Board has approved the plan, as is indicated in the memorandum.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And in this case, with respect to these business plans, when did you receive concurrence from the minister?

MR. HALPERIN:  I mean, I didn't receive concurrence myself, but we did receive it after the November meeting.

MR. DeROSE:  Was it in writing?

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.  There are letters back from the ministers.

MR. DeROSE:  Is that in the record?

MR. HALPERIN:  I don't -- I am not aware.

MR. KEIZER:  My understanding, it's not.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Is that something that we could have an undertaking to produce?

MR. KEIZER:  It is acceptable that we will provide that undertaking.

MR. MILLAR:  J9.10.
UNDERTAKING NO. J9.10:  TO PROVIDE DOCUMENTS FROM MINISTRY OF ENERGY AND MINISTRY OF FINANCE INDICATING CONCURRENCE WITH BUSINESS PLANS.

MR. DeROSE:  Thank you.  Now, if I can take you back to tab 3?  This is still with the memorandum of agreement.

Still on page 3, under section E it sets out "Communication and Reporting", and it sets out that OPG will ensure timely reports and information on major developments, and goes on to require quarterly reports on interrelated strategic matters.  And then if you turn the page, there are specific requirements for your Chair, president and CEO.

And then on number 7, it says:
"OPG will provide officials in the Ministry of Energy and the Ministry of Finance with multi-year and annual business planning information, quarterly and monthly financial reports and briefings on OPG's operational and financial performance against plan."


Now, the business plans which you prepare, which we have just had at tabs 5 and 6 of the compendium, am I right that that is the multi-year and annual business planning information that you are required to provide?

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Now, in terms of the provision of that information, and I guess all of the information required in section E of the memorandum of agreement, am I right to assume that the finance group or representatives of OPG would meet with the ministry from time to time to discuss those issues?

MR. HALPERIN:  As I indicated, we meet, prior to the plan going to our board of directors, with officials from the Ministries.

We also have a monthly meeting with shareholder representatives to review the monthly results.

MR. DeROSE:  And when you say "monthly meeting with shareholder representatives", is that the board of directors, or is that someone other than the board of directors?

MR. HALPERIN:  No.  It is executives from the business units.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And the -- if we can just go back to the meetings with the ministry, and I am just trying to get an understanding of how often you are meeting with your shareholder to discuss these type of issues.

Is it once a month?  Or would it be once a month for your official meetings, and then from time to time you would have additional meetings on specific items?

MR. HALPERIN:  I think that is a fair characterization, yes.

MR. DeROSE:  And I know it is difficult to, with any precision, say the exact frequency, but would you have meetings on average weekly or biweekly?  Can you put an estimate to that?

MR. HALPERIN:  I can't, no.  Because there are various meetings with officials from various people in the company, as well, and I am not necessarily a party to any of those meetings.

MR. DeROSE:  What about people within your group, within the finance group?  You would have an understanding of -- people below you wouldn't be going and meeting with the ministry without you knowing, would they?

MR. HALPERIN:  No.  Typically, those meetings with senior finance officials would occur at the CFO level.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And I take it that if the CFO was going over, you would know about it because they would want to know from you in advance and seek information --


MR. HALPERIN:  If it was relating to issues that we could provide information on, yes.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  At that level, are we talking more than once a month?

MR. HALPERIN:  I don't believe so.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Now, what about board of directors?  With the exception of when you have formal presentations -- so for instance, the November 19th presentations that we have taken you to -- will you have other more frequent informal meetings with the board of directors?

MR. HALPERIN:  Are you talking about me meeting with our board of directors?  Or our board of directors meeting with ministry officials?

MR. DeROSE:  No, no.  Your board of directors meeting with your group, your finance planning group.

MR. HALPERIN:  We do not meet with the board of directors as a matter of course.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Now, in your annual reports -- I don't think we need to turn this up -- you identify related parties, is the way you frame it.  And you identify your related parties to include the province of Ontario, Hydro One, the IESO and the IEFC.

And you identify those as related parties because the province owns all of the shares of OPG and owns all of the shares of those corporations.

So first of all, are we in agreement those are related parties to OPG?  Would you like a reference?  Or do you have it?

MR. REEVE:  No, that's correct.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And now I have to admit when I -- I think the document I am looking at is your 2005 annual report.  But the OPA would also be considered a related party, would it not?  You don't identify it in related-party transactions, but it --


MR. REEVE:  If I can give you an exhibit reference, it is A2-1-1, attachment 2, page 15, which is an extract from our 2009 annual report.

MR. DeROSE:  I wonder if it is possible --


MR. REEVE:  It is our note to our financial statements that described related-party transactions.  It lays out for financial accounting purposes who we consider to be related parties.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.

MR. REEVE: It sounds as though that would be an updated version of what you're referring to.

MR. DeROSE:  I wonder if Mr. Buonaguro could pull that up, because I didn't bring all 153 pages of that particular...

MR. BUONAGURO:  What was the reference, again?

MR. REEVE: A2-1-1, attachment 2, and it is page 153.  It is an extract from our annual report.  It is note 20 to our annual financial statements.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Attachment 1?

MR. REEVE: Attachment 2, note 20.  You need to go up another page.  Perfect.  Oh...

MR. DeROSE:  There we go.  Now, I'm sorry, I am reading this quickly on the screen; I don't see the OPA there.

Would you not consider the OPA -- you might not have related-party transactions with them, but would you not consider them a related party?

MR. KEIZER:  To some extent that may be a legal question, as to what is a related party and what is not for purposes of the statute.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Maybe I can ask it this way.

Would you agree, subject to check, that the OPA is entirely owned by the same shareholder that you have?

MR. REEVE: That's correct.  And to answer your question, it is quite possible that we didn't have transactions with the OPA and that is why you don't see it in this table.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Fair enough.  I don't want to make more of it than there is.

Now, do the meetings that you have with the ministry ever involve any of the related parties?  So Hydro One, IESO, OPA, OEFC?  Would you be at meetings with the ministry at the same time as those parties?

MR. HALPERIN:  No.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.

MR. HALPERIN:  Our meetings focus basically around financial performance, business plans, things like that.

MR. DeROSE:  Now, when discussing your business plans, will you ever discuss with either how your business plan will impact any of those related parties, or how those related parties' business plans would impact you?

MR. HALPERIN:  Not typically, no.

MR. DeROSE:  So for instance, you wouldn't have discussions with the IESO on how their planning may affect, for instance, SBG, and that will have an impact on you, financially?

MR. HALPERIN:  Those discussions don't -- they take place at other levels in the organization.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And those below you wouldn't report to you that they're having these type of meetings, if they have a potential impact on finance?

MR. HALPERIN:  They wouldn't -- typically, no.  I mean, that example, you mentioned SBG.  I mean, if SBG raises operational issues in terms of plant cycling or need to spill water, things like that, those would typically be addressed by other groups in the company.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Now, what about even if you don't have meetings with those companies?

Will your shareholder ever advise you of the impacts which either your business plans may have on the related entities, or alternatively, that -- give you a heads-up that there is something going on in one of the related entities and it is going to have an impact on you, you should start to plan for it?

MR. HALPERIN:  Again, I don't think -- certainly not at my level in the organization.

MR. DeROSE:  Well, in all fairness -- and perhaps I have this wrong, but my impression is you are at quite a high level, are you not?

MR. HALPERIN:  You can make the...

[Laughter]

MR. DeROSE:  Would you agree that your position is a relatively high level in the company?

MR. HALPERIN:  Certainly, it is a level that consolidates information on a company-wide basis.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And is it fair to assume that those under your supervision or those in the org chart below you, if they were aware of information from either the ministry or from the related parties that had an impact on finance, they would bring it to you or your group's attention?

MR. HALPERIN:  Certainly, people who work below me would not be in that -- would not be party to that kind of information.

Again, I think the kind of issues you are talking to are dealt with at more operational areas.

For example, the people who do our sales forecasting and our load forecasting, they might have discussions with the IESO, in terms of, you know, things that would affect their sales forecast or our price forecast.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And would they bring that to your attention when they learn about that?

MR. HALPERIN:  Well, it hasn't been the case to date, really.  I mean, they would use that information in developing, for example, their projections that they would feed to us as part of the consolidation process.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  So what I am taking from your answers -- and perhaps this is an inference, but do I take it that you -- no one has brought to your attention any of the related parties coming to you and saying, Here's what our plans are in the next year or the next five years, and it could have an impact on you and this is how the impact could unfold?

That has not occurred, that you are aware of?

MR. HALPERIN:  That's correct.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And do I also take it that the ministry has not come to you and given a similar type of heads-up that we have this information that one of our other wholly-owned companies is going to be taking certain actions that may have an impact on you; this is what it could be?  That has never happened either?

MR. HALPERIN:  Not at my level.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And, again, anyone below you, you would expect that they would bring that to your attention?

MR. HALPERIN:  Again, I mean, actually, I have a very small group working for me, and they're largely focussed on financial analyses.  They don't get involved in operational details or things like that.

I think that kind of information would flow, one, at a more senior level.  There are meetings with senior executives and... But, I would say no.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And, Mr. Halperin, your group is in charge of business planning; correct?

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  So I am not trying to argue with you on this.  I guess I just -- if either management above you or those below you were to be told something, either by the ministry or by one of the other companies that is owned by the province of Ontario, that would have an impact on planning, so it could have an impact on your forecasts or an impact on your revenues, you would expect to be told about it.  Is that not a fair assumption for us to make?

MR. HALPERIN:  Again, I say we would find -- we would find out about it ultimately through the plans that have been identified through the other groups.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And that has never happened?  No one has brought that to your attention, ever, that that has occurred?

MR. HALPERIN:  Well, again, I would say the same example.  If you talk about things like the green energy program and the implications that has, that is brought to the attention of basically our generation planners.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Well, let's...

Madam Chair, that is probably -- I am about to jump to a section that I think, once we get rolling, it will take us past 3:00.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Why don't we take the break now for 15 minutes?

MR. DeROSE:  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 2:50 p.m.


--- On resuming at 3:16 p.m.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Please be seated.

Do we have any preliminary matters?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, we do, Madam Chair.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Shepherd.

Preliminary Matters:


MR. SHEPHERD:  And I will invite my friend, Mr. Keizer, to clarify this, if he wishes.

I heard in the last -- before the break, the statement by the company that the issue associated with the calculation and the amounts in the tax loss variance account, which we all thought was in panel 10, is now in panel 9.

And I am concerned about that, because all of the -- the issue itself, 10.1 and 10.2, are allocated to panel 10.

All of the interrogatories that we asked on the tax loss variance account are listed in panel 10.  And since I am supposed to do the lead cross on that, and I haven't started yet, preparing for it, I don't see how I could possibly do it on Monday, when I didn't know that it was coming.

And I don't know why all of the issues and evidence associated with this are allocated to panel 10, if they want to have it presented in panel 9.

MR. DeROSE:  Madam Chair, perhaps to be fair to Mr. Keizer, unless he wants us to split our submissions, it is probably better and more fair if I just piped in here.  In part, it is my fault, because I sought the clarification.

[Laughter]

MR. DeROSE:  And I am glad I did, because now we can deal with this upfront rather than on the back end next Friday.

But I have to admit my understanding was the same as Mr. Shepherd's, was that -- and I have the Issues List, and I think if you just -- looking at the plain language of the Issues List, 6.11 reads as follows:
"Are the amounts proposed to be included in the test period revenue requirement for other operating costs, including depreciation expenses, income and property taxes, appropriate?"

So if we stop there, this panel deals with Issue 6.11 and I took that to mean:  Are the income and property taxes proposed to be included in the test period, 2011-2012, revenue requirement, appropriate?

Full stop.  That is when you look at the interrogatories that we asked are listed in the Issues List -- the broader Issues List that has been prepared with the interrogatories.

If we turn to Issues 10 –- well, Issue 10 on the deferral accounts, which is what I understood panel 10 to be addressing, 10.1 deals with:
"Is the nature or type of costs recorded in the deferral and variance accounts appropriate?"
Then 10.2 is:
"Are the balances for recovery in each of the deferral and variance accounts appropriate?"

So, 10.1 deals with the -- is this the type of cost that should be recovered, but 10.2 says:  Is the balance in the deferral account appropriate?

And I would submit that it is not unfair for people to conclude that the issue of is the amount in the tax loss variance account appropriate would be dealt with by 10, by panel 10, not panel 9.

So I would simply say that's our view of why panel 10 should hear that balance.  It is obviously an issue of timing and preparation.

I mean, it is not the -- while three or four days doesn't seem like the end of the world, in preparation of cross-examination on tax issues, with –- and I realize this isn't your issue -- but with Hydro One, also, final argument is due next week, this does cause potential prejudice, in terms of cross-examination.

So those are our submissions.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Keizer?

MR. KEIZER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

At the outset, I think the first thing is that the company has tried its best to organize these panels and inform parties as to what was going on, and I think early on, before the proceeding started, they did circulate Exhibit A, tab 9 schedule 1, which set out the various panels, identified the witnesses, identified the prefiled evidence.  They identified issues and also the interrogatories.

And in that exhibit, it included Mr. Heard, who will be dealing with the tax issues in this panel, which is the finance and business process.  It also included in there the evidence associated with the calculation of the tax loss variance account number, as well as various interrogatories associated with it.

So the evidence was attached to this panel, and I think the company organized it according to the evidence that was related to it, in an effort to group the like issue together, given the fact that we're going to be talking about tax expense, that we are also going to be talking about taxes and reconciliation of taxes, and obviously, the tax loss variance account.

So the company feels that it had given sufficient notice to parties, that this is where it was going to be dealt with, and that effectively all of the evidence that is presented here for this panel to be responsible for relates to that issue.  And it was -- it was to be gathered and dealt with here.

So I think that, as well, effectively, we're talking about tax.  We are talking about the tax loss variance account, which is related to this whole tax expense issue and other things.  So I think it is the appropriate panel to deal with it.

And I think that the parties have had appropriate notice to know that that is happening.  It is unfortunate that there has been some confusion, but I think it is probably best to proceed with this panel and move forward.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Keizer, I am looking at that Exhibit A1, tab 9, schedule 1, and page 7 of 7, which describes panel 10, and it does identify 10.1 and 10.2 as being the issues, but you are saying that under the "prefiled evidence" columns, that would have been the place where it would indicate that it is, in fact, panel 9 that would be dealing with the substance of those issues?

MR. KEIZER:  Yes.  If you look at the prefiled evidence associated with panel 9, it deals with the various exhibits that are related to the calculation of the tax loss.

MS. CHAPLIN:  All right.  You're saying this is Mr. Heard's area of responsibility?

MR. KEIZER:  It is.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Is there any reason Mr. Heard cannot return and sit with panel 10, as well, and we can deal with it then?

MR. KEIZER:  I just have to confirm availability, but that would be the only question.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Would that be satisfactory to Schools and...

All right.  I mean, it is clearly an important issue, and the Board will benefit most if the people are prepared.  So we would like to try and find something that is satisfactory; if not ideal for all parties, at least satisfactory.

So if that can be accomplished, that seems like maybe the way to do it.

MR. KEIZER:  Is it my understanding that Mr. Heard's evidence in its entirety relating to tax will be dealt with in that panel?  Or that we will split his evidence between the tax expense issue here, and the tax loss variance account?

MS. CHAPLIN:  What I hear from CME and Schools is that they would -- they may well have questions -- yes, that it would be split, that all of the issues to deal with the tax variance account would be in panel 10.

MR. KEIZER:  So we wouldn't be encountering any supplementary cross at the day of or the --


MS. CHAPLIN:  I am sure you will alert us to that, should it arise.

MR. KEIZER:  I will do my best.

MR. DeROSE:  And if I can maybe offer a feather of...

If Mr. Keizer is concerned about splitting of cross, I've prepared my cross on the tax calculation for the test period.  If it makes OPG feel better that Mr. Heard be called only for panel 10 -- I don't think I have asked any questions that he has answered, and I am the only one up -- I am happy to defer my tax questions all to panel 10.  I am ready.  I am prepared to ask on the tax issues for the test period in this case, because that is how I read it, but I am happy to defer if that makes this an easier solution.

MR. KEIZER:  Just a moment, Madam Chair.

I guess one question of clarification.  We just want...

[Mr. Keizer confers with Mr. Barrett and Ms. Reuber]

MR. KEIZER:  I know it is -- we are coming up to 4:00 o'clock.

Will we get to your tax questions today, Mr. DeRose, do you think?

MR. DeROSE:  No.

MR. KEIZER:  Maybe we can consult as appropriate and get back to you and ensure that you are aware of what -- and also Board Staff, so that they could advise the panel what our intentions are on whether to deal with all of tax at the one time in panel 10, or whether or not we will deal with it -- I think it is a scheduling issue we want to clarify.

MS. CHAPLIN:  I think what has been offered is we could excuse Mr. Heard now.  He could just come back with panel 10 and deal with all his issues then.  Is that...

MR. KEIZER:  We just have to check availability.  We will clarify it, Madam Chair.  Sorry.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, so I should prepare my cross for current taxes, assuming I am going to do it Monday, and then I may have to dump it till Friday?  I will do that if that is what is asked, but it does seem like --


MR. KEIZER:  We would hope, Mr. Shepherd, that we would be able to advise you in a timely manner so that --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Today.

MR. KEIZER:  Today, so your weekends will be Hydro One devoted.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Hydro One will thank you for that.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  So, Mr. DeRose.

MR. DeROSE:  We will get back on the horse.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay, thank you.
Continued Cross-Examination by Mr. DeRose:


MR. DeROSE:  Mr. Halperin, right before the break, I think we may have gone down a bit of a rabbit hole, but we were talking about different areas or ways that you seek guidance, or sources of information you seek guidance from when preparing your business planning instructions.

Could I have you turn to tab 4 of our compendium, Exhibit K9.5?  Do you have that?

MR. HALPERIN:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. DeROSE:  You will see this is a backgrounder dated February 23, 2005.  It is the Ontario government announcing prices on electricity from OPG.

And right at the top it says, "These prices are designed to", and then it has a number of bullets, and it says, the fourth bullet down:
"Provide an incentive for OPG to contain costs and to maximize efficiencies."


Now, stopping there, am I right that in preparing business planning instructions, that you would consider containment of costs and maximization of efficiencies as one of the goals that should be achieved?

MR. HALPERIN:  Absolutely.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Then the next bullet says:
"Allow OPG to better service its debt while earning a rate of return that balances the needs of customers and ensures a fair return for taxpayers."


The balancing of the needs of customers and ensuring a fair return for taxpayers, is that another goal of the business planning process?

MR. HALPERIN:  I am just struggling a little bit with the term about "ensuring a fair return for taxpayers" in terms of what that might be alluding to, but...

MR. DeROSE:  I'm sorry, you don't understand what "ensuring a fair return for taxpayers" --


MR. HALPERIN:  These are competing priorities, obviously, in terms of...  Well, let me just think for one second.  Yes.

MR. DeROSE:  Yes, it is a goal?

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.

MR. DeROSE:  Thank you.  Then if you go down to the very bottom of that page:
"The prices on OPG's regulated assets are based on projected costs of operation, plus a five percent return on equity (ROE). While the standard ROE for North American utilities is ten percent, a five percent ROE will generate revenue to service the OPG debt held by the Ontario Electricity Financial Corporation, while putting significant discipline on OPG to contain costs and improve overall operating efficiencies."


So stopping there, the way that this backgrounder reads is that by taking a lower rate of return, that is a manner in which OPG is forced to contain costs and maximize efficiencies.

First of all, is what is described there in terms of considering the appropriate ROE to be applied in order to put discipline on OPG to contain costs and improve overall operating efficiencies, is that an element that is considered in your planning process?

MR. HALPERIN:  Can you repeat the question, please?

MR. DeROSE:  Sure.  Do you -- is there any consideration in your planning process of what the appropriate ROE is in order to put discipline on OPG to contain costs and improve overall operating efficiencies?

MR. HALPERIN:  Certainly in the years in which the rates are already set, that would set a revenue ceiling for the regulated facilities.  So within that context, it would provide that kind of discipline, certainly.

MR. DeROSE:  And I take it that -- well, in your current planning process, was -- did you consider ROE?

MR. HALPERIN:  It was an input to our revenue calculations, but we have a continuing focus on cost -- management and cost reduction.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Did you consider whether you should propose a lower ROE to put discipline on overall costs and operating efficiencies?  Was it a consideration during this planning process?

MR. HALPERIN:  Well, again, I would say to the extent -- as we described in our description of the business planning process, we -- well, we work with the current -- on the regulated side, we work within the parameters of the current levels of ROE as prescribed by the Ontario Energy Board.  We don't give explicit consideration to a different ROE.

MR. DeROSE:  So there was no consideration of whether you should propose a lower ROE?  It wasn't even considered?

MR. HALPERIN:  No.  We worked within the existing regulatory framework.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And when you say within the existing regulatory framework as prescribed by the OEB, and this may be a question for panel 8, but do you believe that you must include the highest ROE as prescribed -- as the Board-approved process or formula would produce?

MR. HALPERIN:  Well...

MR. DeROSE:  Let me put it another way.  I will make it easier.

You could choose, if you were given guidance from your shareholder, to apply for an ROE less than the amount produced by the Ontario Energy Board formula.  You could do that if you wanted to; correct?

MR. HALPERIN:  I would say if we were directed by the shareholder, yes.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And in your planning process, did you at all consider whether that is something that you should propose to your board of directors and to the Minister of Energy and Minister of Finance?

MR. HALPERIN:  Well, I would say we may have considered it, but we would have considered the implications on our -- you know, on our financial situation, as well.

MR. DeROSE:  Could you explain that more to me?

MR. HALPERIN:  Well, basically -- well, let me go back on that.

Again, the planning assumptions that we work with are with the current -- we assume the current regulatory construct.  So we have not explicitly considered a different ROE as a driver.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  So it was not a consideration?

MR. HALPERIN:  Not in our business plan, no.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay, thank you.

Now, again, still on the different sources of guidance, we have talked about your relationship with the ministry, we've talked about your relationship, or lack thereof, with your related affiliate entities.

In terms of the Ontario Energy Board, does OPG work closely with the OEB in coordinating activities that it has to present for approval?

MR. KEIZER:  I think that is probably more on the regulatory panel side than it is to business planning side.

MR. DeROSE:  Which is what --


MR. KEIZER:  Which is panel 10.

MR. DeROSE:  Which is panel 10?  Okay.

MR. HALPERIN:  Let me just clarify something you just said, and that is you made reference to a lack of -- a lack of coordination.

There are numerous meetings that occur between staff at OPG and various entities, if you want to call them the related parties, whatever, IESO, OPA.  And if I left the mistaken impression that those meetings don't occur, basically, if there are issues that arise in those meetings that will have a significant impact on our finances or our business planning situation, I will be informed of that.

But typically, a lot of these meetings are dealing with things like future generation, development, things like that, which of course we consult with people like the OPA and that.

So I just wanted to clarify that.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  So, for instance, would there have been discussion on the cost impacts of the Green Energy Act initiatives?  Between yourself and the ministry?

MR. HALPERIN:  There may have been, but those are... I would imagine there would have been much more closer contacts between, for example, Hydro One, who are more directly affected by that.

MR. DeROSE:  Sorry, when you say "more" you mean between Hydro One and the minister, or do you mean between Hydro One and yourself?

MR. HALPERIN:  Hydro One and the entities.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And for business planning purposes, would you -- well, let me ask it this way.

Would the cost impacts of the Green Energy Act initiatives be something that you would like to understand in your business planning process?

MR. HALPERIN:  Primarily, it would be the impacts on our operations that we would be concerned with.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Now, what about the economic feasibility of those initiatives?  Is that something that you would have considered?

MR. HALPERIN:  That's not really -- no.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Thank you.

Now, if I can take you to tab 26 of the compendium, this is an excerpt from a Hydro One distribution case.  But before I go to it, when you are preparing your business planning instructions and you are going through the business plan process, do you monitor or have people bring to your attention decisions of importance, other than OPG?

So for instance, would people in your group or at OPG track what is going on in a Hydro One distribution case or a Hydro One transmission case?  Would this be of -- something that you, in your group, have some sort of a monitoring process?

MR. HALPERIN:  Again, not specifically in my group, but there are other groups within the company that would do this.  Our regulatory affairs group, our regulatory finance group would pay attention and be monitoring these items, and they would identify any potential implications they might have.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Now, if I can take you to -- if you flip the page, you will see it is page 9.  And this is a comment made by the Board in the context of their overall OM&A spending portion of the decision, and if you then turn to page 13 -- do you have that?

MR. HALPERIN:  Mm-hmm.

MR. DeROSE:  In the middle of the page, you will see it says:

"Fourth, the Board must take into account the overall increase in prospect of further increases in the commodity portion of the bill.  While these charges are outside of the control of the Applicant, they are no less real for customers.  In giving effect to the Board's objective to protect the interests of consumers, the Board cannot ignore the overall impacts on customers."

So stopping there, first of all, would anyone have brought this statement to your attention?

MR. HALPERIN:  In terms of the Board's, the OEB's responsibility?

MR. DeROSE:  What I just read.

MR. HALPERIN:  Well, I don't believe so.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Now, in your planning process, did you take into account the overall increase and prospect of further increases in the commodity portion of the bill, of customer bills in your planning process?

MR. HALPERIN:  Certainly, we are concerned about the commodity portion that we are responsible for.

MR. DeROSE:  But I take it that charges that are outside of your control, you didn't take into consideration?

MR. HALPERIN:  When we have consolidated our plan and we roll that up into an outlook for regulated rates, we do at that point recognize what portion -- what impact that might have on a customer bill.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.

MR. HALPERIN:  But that would basically be on the current bill.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  I think I can take you to that afterwards, but in terms of during the business planning process itself, do you undertake any type of analysis of what the overall impact will be on customers?

MR. HALPERIN:  Not during the business planning process, no.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Thank you.  Now, if I can also take you to tab 16 -- actually, I'm sorry, before I take you to tab 16, if I could take you to tab 7, and this is a press release from OPG, dated March 29th, 2009, and it's announcing that you are starting your Energy Board rate application process, which is the application in this case.

Would you have been responsible, or someone in your group, for preparing this type of press release?

MR. HALPERIN:  No.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  But you would have been aware of it?

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And that is dated March 29th, 2010?

MR. HALPERIN:  Mm-hmm.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Now, if I could turn you to tab 16, and just for your benefit, because I would not have expected that you would necessarily have seen this before, but it is -- this is an Order in Council, dated two days later, March 31st, 2010, in which the minister is giving direction to the OEB on the establishment of conservation demand management targets.

And if you turn right to the very last page, number 8, the direction from the Minister of energy is this:

"The Board shall, in approving Board-approved CDM programs, continue to have regard to its statutory objectives, including protecting the interests of consumers with respect to prices."

Now, this is two days after you filed your application.  Leading up to the filing of the application during your business process planning -- or during your business planning process, did the Minister ever say this to you, that OPG should be protecting the interests of consumers with respect to prices?

MR. HALPERIN:  We are certainly aware of the -- you know, the costs of other components that are in there, but certainly we believe that we need to manage the costs that we have control of, as prudently as we can, to achieve the same objective.

MR. DeROSE:  Is one of the roles of OPG, in the business planning process, to protect the interests of customers?

MR. HALPERIN:  It is to minimize cost to customers, subject to the requirements of operating the system safely and reliably.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Now if I can take you to tab 1, and this is your evidence on business planning and budgeting process.  And if I can take you to page 4 of 14?

Do you have that page?

MR. HALPERIN:  I'm there, yes.

MR. DeROSE:  And right at the top, starting line 1:
Guidelines for subsequent years in the plan recognized the need to maintain strict expenditure control, and included:..."


Then the first bullet:
"The continuation, into future years, of the 2010 cost reductions implemented by Nuclear."


Then second bullet:
"A direction to all corporate support groups that they freeze their future years' expenditure at 2010 levels."


Now, those two bullets, I couldn't understand what the difference is, other than one is specific to nuclear and the other is to the corporate support groups.

Are you not saying the same thing?

MR. HALPERIN:  No.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Could you explain what those two bullets mean, then, or how they're different?

MR. HALPERIN:  Okay.  As identified in the preceding paragraphs, when we -- in response to significant customer concerns, we deferred the previously planned 2010 rate increase.

We did that -- that led to us seeking specific cost reductions in 2010.

MR. DeROSE:  Just stopping you there, that is the 85 million?

MR. HALPERIN:  That's the 85 million.  Nuclear's share of that was 40 million.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.

MR. HALPERIN:  And, initially, it was identified as a one-year reduction.  These guidelines then said that reduction should be continued into future years, but that is not to say -- the absolute level of their OM&A would still fluctuate, depending on the work that needed to be done.  But, basically this -- we took that 40 million and continued it into future years.

So, really, it is a delta from a number, if you want to put it that way.

The direction to the corporate functions was that, in absolute terms, their 2010 budgets had to become their budgets for future years.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay, thank you very much.  That clarifies that point.

If I can turn you to tab 2, now I would actually like to walk through some elements of the business planning instructions that you prepared.

And if I can start you off on page 3, first of all, the first set of bullets, there's some blacked-out information.  Am I right that the blacked-out information relates to non-regulated components of your business planning instructions?

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay, thank you.  I've gone through this document, and there are only two spots that I can find reference to what you have described as the -- one end of the balancing, the customer impact side, and they are the following.  First of all, the very sentence that reads as follows:
"This year's Business Planning process is occurring against a backdrop of unique financial circumstances.  Ontario has been particularly hard hit by the global financial meltdown and the restructuring of the domestic automobile industry."


And then if you go down to the paragraph right below the bullets, it says, right after the first semicolon:
"...the fact that this year's process is occurring during a period of unprecedented economic turmoil, compounds our task this year.  The fact that many Ontario businesses are fighting for survival, and ratepayers are facing economic hardship, means that we can expect unprecedented pressure to aggressively manage our costs, while maintaining safe and prudent operations."


Is there anywhere else in your business planning instructions that addresses customer impacts, because those were the only two that I could find?  Sorry, when I say "customer impacts", I should say customer cost impacts.

MR. HALPERIN:  No.  The rest -- I don't believe there are any further mentions throughout the instructions, but, clearly, by the placement of these words at the very beginning of the instructions, it was clear that this was being treated very seriously by us.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  So it was important to you that business plans would address the cost impacts on customers?

MR. HALPERIN:  Ultimately through the business units' management of their costs, yes.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  But not through any assessment of what the actual cost impact is?

MR. HALPERIN:  That's correct.  The business units would not have the capability to do that.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.

MR. HALPERIN:  Again, the purpose of these instructions is to set the context for the business units in which they plan their work, and they make the trade-offs between what they need to spend to safely and reliably operate the system and the ability, perhaps, to either manage those costs, perhaps defer some of them, or seek more efficient ways of doing it.

These instructions were trying to make the point that, in this year's plan, we should possibly be tilting that balance, to the extent we safely can, to try to ensure that there is a significant emphasis on cost control.

MR. DeROSE:  And, sorry, what do you mean by "tilting the balance"?  Would you not want to manage your costs aggressively every year?

MR. HALPERIN:  You would, but when you are looking at, for example, projects that you need to do to maintain assets, there may be some capability, you know, to determine whether you can defer a project or not.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Now, one other -- one last question on that particular paragraph.  You say at the end that you recognize businesses are fighting for survival and that ratepayers are facing economic hardship, and you say this:
...means that we can expect unprecedented pressure to aggressively manage our costs..."


When you use the phrase "unprecedented pressure", who did you think that pressure was going to come from?  Was it from your shareholder?  Was it from groups such as ours in this process?

Who did you have in mind exerting that pressure?

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes, we were anticipating both this hearing, the shareholder.  And a number of our other costs are -- for example, our coal plants are subject to cost recovery agreements right now.

And so any costs we can -- any OM&A saving we can make on operating a coal plant would translate directly into a lower cost for the customers.

MR. DeROSE:  And, I'm sorry, you had me until you mentioned the coal plants.  I don't see how coal plants are exerting unprecedented pressure.

MR. HALPERIN:  No, but it is -- again, it is a direct relationship between the costs -- the costs to operate those plants and the costs that would need to be recovered from customers.

MR. DeROSE:  Wouldn't that be the same for all of your operations?

MR. HALPERIN:  No, because, for example, our unregulated hydro operations receive a market price.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And here is the -- if I can have you turn the page to page 4, and this will be the final question for you today, as I recognize that we need to be out of here by 4:00.

On page 4 -- do you have that?

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.

MR. DeROSE:  Under "Vision, Core Business and Strategy", the very first sentence:
"Over the last five years, OPG has established itself as a performance-driven company and has regained the confidence of its Shareholder."


It is the word "regained" that puzzles me.  Had you lost the confidence of your shareholder five years ago or -


MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.

MR. DeROSE:  -- what are you referring to there?

MR. HALPERIN:  Well, we're referring to December 2003 when the shareholder dismissed the president, CEO and the board of directors.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay, thank you.  I could ask questions for two more minutes, but I think we might go over, so this would probably be an appropriate time to call it a day.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Yes.  Let's break now for the day.  So we will rise now until 9 o'clock on Monday morning.  Thank you.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 3:58 p.m.
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